
 
Camrose Public Library – October 18 2023 Agenda 

Present:  

Regrets:  

1. Approval of the Agenda 

2. Board Feedback 

3. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes of September 20 2023 meeting 

b. Items for Information 

i. Correspondence 

a. 2023-09-30 Congratulations to Teresa Gratrix 

b. 2023-09-22 Camrose County RE: 2024 Budget  

c. Reports 

i. Director’s Report 

ii. Program Overview to September 30 2023 

iii. Program Report and Library Stats September 2023 

iv. Overdue: The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries 

v. City and County of Camrose - 2023 Alberta Provincial Housing 

and Service Needs Estimation – Infographic 

vi. Rural and Remote Alberta - 2023 Alberta Provincial Housing 

and Service Needs Estimation – Infographic 

vii. RE: 2024 Funding Agreement – CPL to City of Camrose - 

Rationale and Infographic  

4. Items for Discussion  

a) Treasurer’s Report 

b) 2024 Budget 

c) Adopting an Appointment and Dismissal of Board Members policy 

d) Reading with Royalty 

e) Stronger Together Conference 

f) Annual Director Evaluation 

g) Overdue: The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries 

 

5. Items for Decision 

a) Adopting an Appointment and Dismissal of Board Members policy 



 
Camrose Public Library – October 18 2023 Agenda 

b) Letter to elected officials RE: Overdue: The Case for Canada’s Public    

     Libraries 

 

Next regular Board meeting: November 15 2023, 5:00pm 



 
Camrose Public Library – Sept. 20, 2023 Minutes 

 
 

Present:  Renee Greer (Chair), Lynette Irvine (Vice Chair), Alyssa Martin (CPL), 

Cheryl Hamel (CPL), Naomi Finseth, Vikki Williams, Elizabeth Bagdan, Jade 

Hulkovich, Peter Hamm, Margaret Holliston, Peter Hamm, Joy-Anne Murphy (City 

of Camrose Representative), Don Simpson (Camrose County Representative) 

 

Call to Order: Chair Renee Greer called the meeting to order at 5:04 pm 

1. Approval of the Agenda 

Motion 32/23 M/S/C – Margaret Holliston/Jade Hulkovich: That the agenda 

be approved, with Items 5a and 5b moving directly before Items 4a to 4f).  

2. Board Feedback – Renee met with interim librarian Jennifer McDevitt near 

the end of her contract, and thanked Jennifer for a job well done.  Alyssa 

added that Jennifer had great information and feedback from Jennifer that 

was very helpful in her transition back to work following her mat leave. 

3. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes of June 21, 2023 meeting 

Motion 33/23 M/S/C – Naomi Finseth/Vikki Williams: That the minutes of 

June 21, 2023, be approved. 

b. Items for Information – Board members reported as having read prior to 

the meeting. 

c. Reports – Board members reported as having read prior to the meeting. 

4. Items for Decision (previously 5a and 5b on the agenda) 

a. 2024 Budget – Alyssa provided a detailed overview of the proposed 2024 

budget. Revenue is projected to increase by $42,115 over the 2023 

budget, with some expenses decreasing. CPL will request additional grant 

funds from both the City and County to cover costs related to continuing 

Sunday hours (funded by a private donation in 2023). Board members 

agreed that there are many compelling reasons to keep the library open 

on Sundays.  Board members also agreed that personnel costs should 

reflect a 3% COLA increase. 

Motion 34/23 M/S/C – Margaret Holliston/Peter Hamm: That the 2024 

Budget be approved. 

b. Library Closure:  Alyssa requested permission to close the library on Friday, 

November 10, 2023, as a professional development day, so all staff could 

attend the Stronger Together Conference.  

Motion 35/23 M/S/C – Joy-Anne Murphy/Jade Hulkovich: That the library 

be closed on November 10, 2023, so staff can attend the Stronger 

Together Conference. 



 
Camrose Public Library – Sept. 20, 2023 Minutes 

 
 

5. Items for Discussion (previously 4a to 4f on the agenda) 

Motion 36/23 M/S/C – Peter Hamm/Joy-Anne Murphy: That Items 4b to 4f be 

deferred to the next meeting. 

6. Adjournment – the meeting adjourned at 6:15 pm 

 

Next regular Board meeting: October 18, 2023, 5:00 pm 



  
 

 

 

                                       
 

4710 50 Avenue, Camrose Alberta  T4V 0R8 

780.672.4214 

September 20, 2023 

Ms. Teresa Gratrix, County CAO                                                                 

3755 43 Avenue 

Camrose AB  T4V 3S8 

 

Dear Ms. Gratrix: 

 

On behalf of the Board and Staff of the Camrose Public Library, please accept our 

warm congratulations on your new role as the new Chief Administrative Officer of 

Camrose County. We look forward to building a relationship with you and continuing to 

work with Camrose County over the coming years to build on our joint 

accomplishments. 

Camrose Public Library shares your goal of fostering safe, welcoming, inclusive, and 

engaged communities, and we look forward to working with you and the rest of 

Camrose County to ensure we are offering a wide range of recreational and cultural 

opportunities. Libraries play a key role in easing economic and social disparities in our 

community in a variety of ways. We act as a hub where anyone can come to find 

information or local resources, we support our youth in feeling engaged and 

connected to local opportunities and community, and we work hard to make sure we 

can do so in a space that feels safe. The accessibility of our resources, services and 

events is our top priority, whether that be physically, socially or economically. County 

support is critical for our ability to do these things effectively, and we are grateful for the 

years of support we have received thus far. 

If you would like a more in-depth discussion or presentation on everything that Camrose 

Public Library offers, we would be happy to do so at your convenience. We hope we 

can continue our collaboration with you over the next several years, and again, 

congratulations! 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Alyssa Martin 

Director, Camrose Public Library  

cc: Camrose Public Library Board 

       Renee Greer, Chair of Camrose Public Library Board 





 
 

Director’s Report  
October 6, 2023 

Alyssa Martin 

 

Community Pantry 

CPL has partnered with Camrose Helps and FCSS to be another site of the 

community pantry. Camrose Helps currently runs the community pantry Monday 

to Friday 8:30am-4:00pm at FCSS.  They rescue food from Second Harvest.  As of 

September 28th 2023 they have rescued $27,581 worth of food since January 

(this is an equivalent of 8887 meals and 4049kg).  Their shelves are typically 

empty within hours of receiving a donation, and they typically receive one 

rescue each weekend - their offices are closed until Monday.  As they are not 

able to serve the community that are our working poor (they are not able to get 

to the FCSS office in time), and because the food they rescue on the weekend 

sits until Mondays, CPL has agreed to be the site of a second fridge and pantry.  

 

As the City and County of Camrose 2023 Alberta provincial Housing & Service 

Needs Estimation community report states, Camrose and area has over 663 

confirmed individuals experiencing housing insecurity, 189 of which are 

dependents. 56% of respondents are employed, and the leading reasons for 

housing instability are low wages and increasing housing costs. These numbers 

are not projections, they are confirmed individuals. Of the respondents, 41% are 

experiencing housing insecurity. If we scale this, Camrose and area has ~11,183 

people facing housing insecurity. The accurate answer likely lies somewhere in 

the middle. The Camrose Food Bank is only open Tues-Thurs, 9:00am-11:30am, 

making it difficult for those with jobs to visit. Additionally, they have a strict intake 

process that requires a person to have ID. Many of our most vulnerable 

individuals have a difficult time retaining ID, and as such have no current 

support. As CPL is one of the only public spaces open evenings and weekends, 

we are one of the only organizations in town that can host this pantry to serve 

this demographic.  

 

Camrose Helps is responsible for organizing the filling of the fridge, the purchase 

and maintenance of the fridge, and CPL and Camrose Helps will both help to 

maintain the fridge’s cleanliness. A shelf is also forthcoming. CPL will refer all 

those who wish to donate to the FCSS office. This partnership will cost CPL very 

little in time, and will be the difference between some of our community being 

able to eat or not. 
 



 
 

   
(Community Pantry fridge which was installed and filled October 10) 

 

Canadian Library Month 

October is Canadian Library Month, and CPL celebrates this in a number of 

ways. For the entire month, CPL gives out free library cards to everyone. 

Parkland is also hosting two big promotions. Anyone who gets a new card or 

renews their card is entered in a draw to win a Visa gift card. There is also the 

Golden Ticket contest. Every day that CPL is open, a golden ticket is hidden. The 

person who finds the ticket is entered to win a West Edmonton Mall waterpark 

gift card, gas card, hotel card and restaurant gift cards. We are also hosting a 

Camrose only prize with our local golden ticket finders. These contests and the 

membership drive were advertised in the Booster and Camrose Morning News. 

 

 



 
 

 

   
 

Library Renovations 

The renovations to the library are ongoing. The new office in the basement is 

completed, and is minimally furnished. The programming room has had the 

needed electrical work done and will have a projector and screen installed this 

week. The program room is in need of a name, and we would like to find 

someone who is interested in purchasing naming rights for the space so that we 

can properly furnish it. Discussions regarding the bathrooms have wrapped, and 

we are now waiting on the City of Camrose and contractors to contact us 

about beginning work. The plan is to convert all four restrooms into single stall 

restrooms that are accessible to those with limited mobility, those who use 

wheelchairs, as well as those who have strollers. 

 

    
(Replacement for the Bunker) 

 



 
 

 

   
(New Office) 

 

Our community frequently asks reference questions about housing, access to 

food, legal aid, government documents, help finding work, taxes and other 

social needs. We are attempting to connect with other organizations who offer 

these services in the hopes that they will commit to working out of CPL on a 

regular basis (weekly, bi-weekly, monthly etc.) in order to better connect with 

our community. Many other libraries operate similar programs very successfully.  

 

Staff Turnover 

We have a new Service Desk Coordinator who was hired internally. This meant 

we needed to fill their Circulation Assistant position, which we also did so 

internally. Much of September has been spent on the hiring process, but we are 

pleased that we were able to fulfill all of our roles internally. 

 

 



Outreach Program Attendance

Deliveries to Care Facilites 76 630

German Circle 30 93

Ukulele Online 19 58

Mind Masters 9 1330

Seniors Hub Website Launch 1 25

Augustana Preview Day 1 50

Visually Impaired Persons Outreach 1 11

Book Bike @ Seniors Week 3 33

Seniors Week Info 1 220

Bethany Pride 1 25

Wellness Fair 1 50

Bones of Crows @ the Bailey 1 55

SOS Café 1 15

145 2595

In House Program Attendance

Spanish 33 183

Ukulele 27 172

Cosy Cards 3 18

Yarn Club 17 112

Adult Dungeons & Dragons 7 33

Vinyl Record Flowers 1 5

Cricut Wine Glasses 1 12

Pride Wreaths 1 2

Cricut Flower Bouquets 1 5

Art Trading Cards 1 3

Cricut Leather Bracelets 1 3

Terrariums 1 11

Cricut Garden Markers 1 8

Paper Quilling 1 11

Felt Flowers 2 13

Print Making 1 5

Wall Hangings 1 3

SRC Loop Knitting 4 28

SRC Walking Book Club 7 31

Orange Shirt Day Beading 1 16

112 674

Outside Groups Program Attendance

Space Provided for Community Groups and Businesses 12 144

12 144

Total 269 3413

Camrose Public Library                                                                                                                    

Adult Programs                                                                                                                                

January 1 to September 30, 2023



Outreach Program Attendance

Read for 15 1 3349

Paper Mache with Chuck MacLean 1 7

Print Making with Chuck MacLean 1 15

Collage Art with Chuck MacLean 1 22

Women's Shelter Family Literacy 5 31

Curious Cuties with Camrose Family Resource Centre 1 22

Earth Day with Chuck Maclean 1 13

Red Hot Science: Trouble with Tribbles 1 12

Book Bike @ Market 10 471

Book Bike @ Jaywalkers 2 255

Book Bike @ Purple Martin Festival 1 7

Book Bike @ Pride Picnic 1 40

Book Bike @ Indigenous Peoples Day 1 162

Book Bike @ Canada Day 1 213Book Bike @ Wellness Walks with CMHA 6 147

Book Bike @ Parks 6 97

SRS/Book Bike Persieds Viewing 1 102

BVJ Parade 1 500

Nature Art with Chuck MacLean 1 16

Registration Night 1 884

Country Fair 1 60

45 6425

In House Program Attendance

Snacks in the Stacks 142 2865

Summer Snacks in the Stacks 45 361

Something Cool After School 123 730

Books & Bounces 42 500

Terrific Tales 33 474

Tech Help 95 194

Geek Days 15 125

Bed Time Stories 27 200

Rainbow Club 6 18

Mini Yogis with CFRC 6 128

3D Print workshop 1 6

Family Literacy Day with CFRC 1 56

Volunteer Appreciation 1 4Spring Break Geek week 5 77

String Art with Chuck MacLean 1 9

Summer Kick-off Tea Party 1 579

Reading with Royalty 1 106

SRC Finale 1 14

Game Day 3 18

Camrose Public Library                                                                                                                    

Family Programs                                                                                                                                

January 1 to September 30, 2023



Anime Club 3 10

International Dot Day 1 16

Welcoming Week 1 7

Crafternoon 1 9

555 6506

Outside Groups Program Attendance

Space Provided for Community Groups and Businesses

0 0

Total 600 12931



Outreach Program Attendance

Sifton Makerspace 3 37

OLMP Break the Fake 1 307

Red Hot Science Rock Paper Scissors Circuits 1 8

SRC at Schools 4 472

Chester Ronning Class visit (Nicole) 2 44

BB @ OSCAR 7 297

BB @ Action for Healthy Communities 4 64

BB @ Reading University 3 116

Reading University Online (Nicole) 2 34

Reading University Class Visits (Nicole) 4 78

BB @ Art in the Park with CFRC 2 65

33 1522

In House Program AttendanceRed Hot Science Droids 1 11

BRSD PD Days 2 62

Chester Ronning Tours and program 5 93

Reading U Library Visit (Nicole) 1 40

SRC Junior Book Club 6 28

SRC Beginner Book Club 7 50

22 284

Outside Groups Program Attendance

Space Provided for Community Groups and Businesses

0 0

Monthly Total 55 1806

Camrose Public Library                                                                                                                    

Childrens Programs                                                                                                                                

January 1 to September 30, 2023



Outreach Program Attendance

Print Making with Chuck MacLean 1 4

Collage Art with Chuck MacLean 1 3

ECKS QSA 6 131

Earth Day with Chuck MacLean 1 8

SRC at schools 2 225

SRC Park Watercolour Painting 6 69

17 440

In House Program Attendance

Teen D & D 26 232

Anime Club 12 72

Red Hot Science Bats 1 7

Book Origami 1 3

Cricut Notebooks 1 2Leather Bracelets 1 9

Terrariums 1 10

SRC Teen D & D 7 82

SRC Webcomic Club 5 13

SRC Poetry Slam 1 5

Resume workshop with CAFCL 1 10

57 445

Outside Groups Program Attendance

Space Provided for Community Groups and Businesses

0 0

Total 74 885

Camrose Public Library                                                                                                                    

Teen Programs                                                                                                                                

January 1 to September 30, 2023



Outreach Programs 240 10982

In-house Programs 746 7909

Outside Groups 12 144

YTD 998 19035

Submitted by Nicole Bannick

10-Oct-23

Camrose Public Library                                                                                                                    

Total Programs                                                                                                                                

January 1 to September 30, 2023



721

71
people attended

programs designed to
share truths and foster

reconciliation in advance
of Orange Shirt Day and

National Day for Truth
and Reconciliation. 

people accessed
programs that help

develop relationships,
end social isolation, and
make them feel welcome

in our library and our
community.

944 

1 awesome piece
of feedback:

September 2023
Program and Library Statistics

Submitted by Nicole Kyle
October 10, 2023

People were reached
through library advocacy

events designed to
promote programs and
services to residents 
and organizations.

A local MD was at the screening of Bones of Crows
we helped arrange in honour of National Day for

Truth and Reconciliation at the Bailey, and after the
film was done we were out in the foyer. The MD
came out of the theatre with red eyes and sank

directly into my arms for a hug. She thanked me for
this and for all the things the library does to help our
community, and she even said she sometimes feels
that the things we do at the library contribute more

to the health of our community than she does.



Our fall program schedule saw the return of some staple programs like Snacks in the Stacks,
Terrific Tales, Books and Bounces, and Ukulele Jam in their regular time slots. We also shifted times
for some returning programs like Anime Club and added new programs like Drop-in Crafternoon
on Sundays. Please see the October schedule below for more!
Louis and I hosted a drop-in tea and chat event for Welcoming Week. Attendance wasn’t high, but
the families that came were excited to hear about upcoming programs and events.
There were some great advocacy opportunities this month as is usual in September with Culture
Days and Community Registration Night. Louis and Ashley connected with well over 900 folks at a
couple of events.
Louis co-hosted a Nature in Art family workshop with the Chuck MacLean Arts Centre; participants
went for a short walk and collected pieces of nature to turn into artwork. 
I organized our first annual International Dot Day celebration and much fun/creativity was had by
all! We painted dots on canvases to take home and dots on the windows of the library for all to
enjoy!
I hosted two events in honour of National Day for Truth and Reconciliation. We invited Indigenous
artist Jess Sanderson-Barry to facilitate a Orange Shirt Day lapel pin beading workshop, and we
co-presented a screening of Bones of Crows at the Bailey Theatre. Both programs were fairly well
attended and greatly appreciated. 

September Program Summary 

Dot Day Artwork

Random Library Shenanigans

Orange Shirt Day Beadwork







September Library Statistics
YTD daily visit averages (and hourly based on operational hours in brackets) 
               Mondays: 251 (avg of 28/hr)            Tuesdays: 331 (avg of 37/hr)
               Wednesdays: 290 (avg of 32/hr)       Thursdays: 251 (avg of 28/hr)
               Fridays: 271 (avg of 30/hr)               Saturdays: 147 (avg of 29/hr)
                                                    Sundays: 115 (avg of 29/hr)



The Case for 
Canada’s Public Libraries
Why investment in public libraries is essential to Canada’s 
post-pandemic recovery, competitiveness, and resilience 



The Canadian Urban Institute (CUI) is Canada’s Urban Institute. 
We are a national platform where policy makers, urban professionals, 
civic and business leaders, community activists and academics learn, 
share and collaborate with one another from coast to coast to coast. 
Our mission is to support vibrant, equitable, livable and resilient cities 
in Canada through research, engagement and storytelling.

This report builds on CUI’s work toward the post-pandemic recovery
of Canada’s main streets and downtowns, and our belief in Canadians’ 
collective ability to transform our cities into more inclusive, just and 
resilient places.

Canadian Urban Institute © 2023



Acknowledging the 
History of Canadian Urbanism

The Canadian Urban Institute acknowledges 
all the Indigenous Peoples of Canada and 
recognizes the ancestral territory of the Inuit, 
Métis, and First Nations people from coast 
to coast to coast. We acknowledge our 
collective and individual responsibility to 
recognize historical patterns of exclusion 
and abuse, to build our understanding of 
Indigenous peoples and cultures, and to 
commit to the ongoing process of truth 
and reconciliation.

More specifically, CUI is continually
challenged to look for ways to

●  Return land to Indigenous peoples
●  Implement the 94 calls to action from 
    the Truth and Reconciliation Commission 
    of Canada
●  Implement the 46 articles of the UN 
    Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
    peoples 
●  Implement the 440 recommendations 
    of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal 
    peoples
●  Investing in and supporting Indigenous 
    communities and economies

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/indigenous-people/aboriginal-peoples-documents/calls_to_action_english2.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/indigenous-people/aboriginal-peoples-documents/calls_to_action_english2.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/british-columbians-our-governments/indigenous-people/aboriginal-peoples-documents/calls_to_action_english2.pdf
https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf
https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf
https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wp-content/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf
https://www.rcaanc-cirnac.gc.ca/eng/1100100014597/1572547985018
https://www.rcaanc-cirnac.gc.ca/eng/1100100014597/1572547985018
https://www.rcaanc-cirnac.gc.ca/eng/1100100014597/1572547985018


The head office of the Canadian 
Urban Institute is located in Toronto, 
the traditional territory of many nations, 
including the Mississauga’s of the Credit, 
the Anishinaabe, the Chippewa, 
the Haudenosaunee and the Wendat 
peoples, and is now home to many diverse 
First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples from 
across Turtle Island. Toronto is covered by 
Treaty 13, signed with the Mississauga’s 
of the Credit, and the Williams Treaty, 
signed with multiple Anishinaabe Nations. 
This place continues to be home to 
many Indigenous peoples from across 
Turtle Island and we are grateful to have 
the opportunity to work on this land.

Further, CUI is cognizant that many 
urban planning practices reinforced racist 
and exclusionary practices of colonialism. 
The work of city-building today must 
include confronting the legacies of the 
past and search for new approaches 
that centre around equity and inclusion, 
making cities for and with everyone.

Acknowledgement 



CONTENTS

The Provocation  pg 6

The Covid Pivot  pg 18

The Post Pandemic Challenge  pg 23

Scenarios for the Future  pg 30

The Way Forward  pg 47

Appendix  pg 60

Resources  pg 79



THE 
PROVOCATION 



The only thing you absolutely 
have to know, is the location 
of the library.

Albert Einstein
Physicist



                             
is part of CUI’s ongoing work to 
highlight the critical components of 
the urban and community fabric that 
are essential to Canada’s social, 
economic and environmental resilience 
and post-pandemic recovery. 

    his provocation is the product of three 
years of CUI’s engagement with Canada’s 
urban public libraries through one of the 
most extraordinary periods in human 
history – the arrival and containment of the 
COVID-19 virus. The pandemic ravaged 
communities of all sizes around the world 
and left an indelible impact on our cities and 
communities of every political affiliation. 

Canadian cities – from the large and 
rapidly-urbanizing to the small and rural – 
faced unprecedented challenges. 
The tenacious, unpredictable, highly 
contagious virus threatened the capacity 
of individuals, families, neighbourhoods, 
businesses, government, and community 
service providers to function. Vulnerable 
populations faced the most pernicious 
challenges, as housing costs rose and 
availability declined, and social supports 
were severely constrained. As governments 
tried to communicate in real time, they were 
playing catch-up to the existing, emerging 
and anticipated challenges revealed by the 
virus. Over this sustained period, levels of 
public uncertainty and distrust in public 
institutions, the media, and governments 
escalated in every jurisdiction of the country.

Overdue: 
The Case for Canada’s 
Public Libraries

T

PAGE 8OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Provocation                                                 



With a vast physical and digital network 
across Canada, the time has come to 
recognize libraries as a national asset. 
Increased investment and strategically 
leveraging their potential are essential 
for renewing post-pandemic social cohesion, 
economic well-being and community 
resilience. Libraries are the one institution 
that provide a remarkably broad array 
of critical supports to our communities,
including for knowledge distribution, culture, 
health, reconciliation, belonging, and 
our democracy. 

We make the case that 
Canada’s public libraries 
enable governments to 
meet their obligations and 
strengthen the common good.

PAGE 9OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Provocation                                                 



Canada’s libraries are an untapped  
national network of social infrastructure 
that includes 652 library systems 
and 3350 branches.



Canada’s libraries are visited 
over 100 million times a year. 



Every month, 204,000 Canadians 
get job-seeking help at their 
public library. 



540 Canadian libraries provide 
free Wi-Fi and support. 



Over 300 libraries offer technology 
training classes, attended by nearly 
16,000 people each month.



LIBRARIES FOR KNOWLEDGE 
Libraries provide communities with 
in-person and remote access to print and 
digital resources, creating more equitable 
access to knowledge and services. 
They continue to evolve, such as by 
creating different types of learning spaces, 
from traditional quiet reading rooms to 
areas for collaboration and the interactive, 
hands-on acquisition of new skills. 
By improving literacy, libraries amplify 
the spillover effects: closing gaps in 
education, increasing the likelihood of 
employment and contributing to 
workforce development. 

LIBRARIES FOR CULTURE
Libraries offer ideal spaces and opportunities 
to gather in person and online, enabling 
everyone to share and exchange ideas. 
They provide opportunities for visitors to 
access, and even create, culture: to read 
and listen to diverse authors, enjoy free films, 
music and dance, and craft new cultural 
content through interactive activities. 

LIBRARIES FOR HEALTH
Libraries have become a key partner in our 
health care system, working closely with 
social workers, community organizations 
and governments. They create and advance 
better health outcome for everyone, 
providing programs and services that 
touch on essential indicators of the social 
determinants of health: early childhood 
development, literacy, employability, 
social inclusion and non-discrimination.

PAGE 15OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Provocation                                                 



LIBRARIES FOR RECONCILIATION 
Libraries have taken a leading role in 
responding to the federal Truth and 
Reconciliation Commission’s 94 Calls to 
Action. They provide programming and 
collections that elevate Indigenous voices on 
cultures, languages, places, and knowledge, 
and address settler-centric structural biases 
in libraries and information retrieval systems. 

LIBRARIES FOR NEIGHBOURHOODS
Libraries are catalysts for neighbourhood and 
downtown revitalization. From Vancouver 
to Kitchener to Halifax they’ve anchored 
plans to create stronger downtowns. In 
cities around the world, library services are 
being introduced into unusual locations like 
transit stations and grocery stores as well 
as informally, through casual “sharing” clubs 
amoung neighbours, and new platforms for 
exchange and mutual aid.

LIBRARIES FOR BELONGING
Libraries, by their nature and because they 
are located at the centre of communities, 
serve multiple needs in a way that no other 
public institution in Canada can. In a single day, 
a public library might be

• a place to access culture and information; 
• a refuge from domestic violence; 
• an election information or polling centre;
• a job search centre; 
• a health clinic; 
• a place to warm up or cool down; 
• a language learning centre for newcomers; 
• a place to attend free university classes 
  or concerts; and
• a space for babies, children, caregivers and 
   youth to make friends and form a community. 

Libraries are catalysts for connection: the 
anchors that create stronger downtowns 
and connected neighbourhoods.

PAGE 16OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Provocation                                                 



LIBRARIES FOR DEMOCRACY
Libraries embody the democratic principle 
that citizens can freely inform and educate 
themselves. They uphold freedom of 
expression and freedom to read, and 
provide access to a wide range of ideas 
and information that empower individuals to 
make informed decisions and fully participate 
in society. They combat polarization by 
being open and free to everyone, providing 
the most democratic of spaces in our cities. 
During elections, many libraries distribute 
voter information, host all-candidate 
meetings, and operate as polling stations.

By providing critical supports – 
knowledge, culture, health, reconciliation, 
belonging, and our democracy – Canada’s 
public libraries are quietly fulfilling core 
mandates at every level of government.

PAGE 17OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Provocation                                                 



THE 
COVID 
PIVOT



In response to the crisis, libraries 
mobilized swiftly and decisively,  
demonstrating a deep understanding 
of community as they adapted their 
services to meet local needs. 

Through their national network, libraries 
quickly built new standards of practice in 
response to the pandemic. And through their 
extensive local partnership networks, they 
“leaned in” to community in a variety of 
locally-relevant ways. 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the one 
civic institution that emerged as a reliable, 
safe and essential service, was the public library. 
From coast to coast to coast, local libraries 
were able to pivot to serve their communities 
in a multitude of new ways. 

PAGE 19OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Covid Pivot                                                     



Some became foodbank distribution hubs, 
others distributed rapid test kits. Some made 
personal protective equipment for frontline 
healthcare workers with their 3D printers, 
or worked with community organizations 
to provide Chromebooks and Wi-Fi hotspots 
to shelters and group homes. Others 
helped students and seniors connect with 
others to support their mental health. 
They distributed social isolation activity 
kits to families to support their mental health, 
engagement and creativity when people 
hunkered down in the early, pre-vaccine 
days of the pandemic. Staff distributed 
snacks and menstrual products through 
their doorways, even when the library 
was closed, and supplied portable toilets 
adjacent to their buildings when public 
washrooms were in short supply. 
Chief Librarians across the country joined 
local emergency management teams and 
readily shared their community knowledge to 
inform broader community responses. 

PAGE 20OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Covid Pivot                                                     



Barriers to service, like library fines, 
were removed; digital programming 
was ramped up; lending and distribution 
systems expanded to distribute laptops 
and COVID tests. With their rich network 
of partners, they already understood 
who would need the most help, and 
which partners to collaborate with as local 
needs shifted in response to the pandemic. 

Over the decades, with the advent of 
technology, there was speculation about 
whether bricks-and-mortar public libraries 
would become obsolete. Instead, they have 
become indispensable to their communities, 
while retaining their traditional role as a 
place to go for information, to do research 
and study. 

PAGE 21OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Covid Pivot                                                     



�  Sustaining workforce development
  
�  Reducing hate, racism, harm 
      and violence 

�  Fostering cultural and artistic diversity

�  Championing entrepreneurship 
      and innovation
 
�  Supporting newcomer settlement
 
�  Advancing Reconciliation

�  Talking action on climate change

�  Providing a community access point 
      for public services

�  Fostering mental health

�  Offering spaces for public consultations     
     and disseminations of information

�  Supporting access to place-based
      programming

Quietly, Canada’s public libraries 
have evolved into highly capable 
partners for every level of 
government, supporting 
the common good by serving 
critical mandates that fall under 
municipal, provincial and 
federal jurisdiction.



THE 
POST-PANDEMIC 
CHALLENGE

23



We are only now beginning to understand 
how profoundly pandemic-related 
lockdowns and social distancing 
protocols affected the health of our 
communities, and how critical libraries 
were in meeting community needs. 

Libraries are an underfunded asset that 
support governments in delivering on 
their obligations to individuals and their 
families, neighbourhoods, communities, 
and cities. 

PAGE 24OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Post Pandemic Challenge  



�  Disrupted school days and 
      curricula: libraries provide children, 
      youth, and post-secondary students 
      with important opportunities for social 
      interaction, as well as support for 
      their schoolwork.

�  Skyrocketing mental health challenges 
      among youth: they provided support 
      for young people.

�  Seniors struggling with isolation: 
      they provided a source of connection.

�  At-risk and vulnerable individuals: 
      they provided shelter, for companionship, 
      and connections to services and 
      opportunities.

Pressure mounted, and continues to exist, 
for libraries to provide local services in the 
absence of adequate social infrastructure 
and comprehensive mental health care.
This includes dealing with:

PAGE 25OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Post Pandemic Challenge  



They are called on in the absence of 
adequate social infrastructure and 
comprehensive mental health care. 
Increasingly, library workers must take 
security measures and call first responders 
to help a person in crisis. For example, 

�  A rash of violent incidents prompted 
     Winnipeg’s Millennium Library to 
     introduce security checks of all patrons.
 
�  The Edmonton Public Library hired staff
      to work with vulnerable populations and 
      connect them to social services, after it 
     had more than 6,000 interactions with 
     at-risk individuals in just one year. 
     This included almost 100 overdoses 
     where naloxone had to be administered. 
  

In the absence of critical systemic 
changes to how we deliver and fund 
mental health care and supportive 
housing, and address social vulnerability 
in Canada, libraries are struggling to 
handle the demands.

Libraries find themselves as the 
triage centres on our main streets 
and downtowns.

PAGE 26OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Post Pandemic Challenge  



Today Canada spends $8 per person 
(approx.), or $305 million per year on its 
urban libraries. In contrast, European 
countries spend between $11 and 
$60 per person. 

Upwards of 90% of funding for Canadian 
urban libraries comes from municipal 
governments, although variations exist 
across provinces. The pandemic and 
its economic repercussions, as well 
as the increasing costs of climate change, 
have added new stresses to municipal 
budgets that were already under 
immense pressure.

Libraries are funded from a tax base 
that does not increase proportionally 
with population or economic growth, and 
municipal support for libraries remains flat 
or fallen in real dollars over several years, 
despite the addition of many essential new 
programs and services. The more dire 
financial repercussions of the pandemic – 
and the growing mismatch between needed 
services and available revenue tools for 
Canada’s largest municipalities – has yet 
to be fully realized, but it puts libraries and 
the communities they serve at precarious 
and increasing risk.

Greater demand and unmet 
social needs require greater support. 
Central to this problem is how 
libraries are funded in Canada.

PAGE 27OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Post Pandemic Challenge  



Percentage change in number 
of library programs and funding
2010-2019

DEMAND SUPPORT

The funding gap between the 
growing number of services being 
provided and the resources to do so 
is staggering and growing. 



Research undertaken for this report 
(Appendix) estimates that an investment 
in library programming generates over six 
times more in economic and social benefits. 
That is, for every $1 invested in Canada’s 
urban libraries, $6 is generated in 
community economic impact, a return 
of over 600%. In real terms, $300 million 
in annual capital and operating funding 
generates $2.1 billion in direct economic 
benefits. This number is significantly 
magnified when we take into account 
the social value of libraries in addressing 
literacy, educational outcomes, and 
workforce development; culture; 
mental and physical health; reconciliation; 
belonging; and the health of our democracy. 

The value proposition for 
increased investment is clear. 

For example, a related finding by the
Canadian Children’s Literacy Foundation 
shows that every $1 invested in early 
childhood education yields six times the 
economic benefit. Currently, 45% of 
Canadians lack the literacy, numeracy, 
and digital skills that are increasingly 
necessary to succeed in jobs in the 
knowledge economy. Libraries have the 
potential to significantly impact Canada’s 
literacy, numeracy and digital gap. A 1% 
increase in adult literacy could create an 
annual economic benefit of $67 billion for 
Canada, the equivalent of approximately 
$1,800 more in the pockets of each 
Canadian every year. 

PAGE 29OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Post Pandemic Challenge  



SCENARIOS 
FOR THE 
FUTURE



CUI developed two scenarios in partnership with Canada’s 
libraries. The first is a plausible “Stretched to the Brink” 
scenario where library funding continues to decline. 
The second is an aspirational scenario, where funding 
matches the enhanced role being played by urban libraries 
across the country, right now, every day.

PAGE 31OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                     



Stretched to the Brink
A Dystopic Future of Under-Investment

A PLAUSIBLE 
SCENARIO



While libraries are busier than ever, 
due to growing demands for new 
programs and services (especially from 
newcomers and equity-seeking populations), 
municipal funding for all public services 
is declining proportionately to the rise 
in demand. Post-pandemic tax revenue 
is dramatically reduced as main street 
commercial businesses close and transit 
ridership diminishes. Provincial support 
remains static and line-item federal support 
is practically non-existent. Inflation is at its 
highest level in decades, putting strain on 
libraries and their visitors.

IMPACTS ON LIBRARIES
More severe funding cuts to core municipal 
services force libraries to reduce staffing 
levels, programs and hours of service. 
The depth and breadth of both physical 
and digital collections is also reduced, 
causing fewer titles to be purchased and 
longer wait times. Social service programs 
also face budget cuts, and vulnerable 
populations experiencing homelessness 
and unemployment have fewer places to 
go. People take shelter in libraries, putting 
additional pressure on remaining staff to 
manage the increasing social disruption 
and violence that affects everyone’s sense 
of safety. Community members with greater 
financial resources stop visiting the local 
library as often.

Libraries are no longer able to provide 
“a space for everyone” as the visitor 
demographic shifts away from people 
of all ages and socio-economic status.

The Scenario

A PLAUSIBLE 
SCENARIO Stretched to the Brink

PAGE 33OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries   Scenarios for the Future                                                           



The energy within libraries changes, as they 
no longer serve everyone. Communities 
become further polarized between the 
“haves” and “have-nots” as the divide 
between wealthy and poor grows. 
As community members have less exposure 
and interaction with one another, empathy 
and community care are less evident.

IMPACTS ON COMMUNITIES
During the hours that libraries are now 
closed, there is a rise in criminal activity. 
Community members become increasingly 
hesitant to spend time downtown for fear 
of being victims of crime. Small businesses 
near the libraries see a decrease in 
foot traffic, threatening their viability. 
The municipality responds with increased 
policing, further diverting funds for 
library services.

The crisis continues to spiral. Vulnerable 
populations become even more present 
on main streets, in commercial lobbies, 
and any remaining public space like parks 
and community centres, fire stations, 
and faith places. 

A PLAUSIBLE 
SCENARIO Stretched to the Brink

PAGE 34OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries   Scenarios for the Future                                                           



IMPACTS ON COMMUNITY MEMBERS
With reduced library hours and limited 
access to language learning, free 
conversation groups and places to spend 
time and meet others, a sense of belonging 
does not develop. Newcomers struggle to 
connect with the local community, and while 
some newcomers decide to leave Canada, 
others stay but experience greater 
loneliness. They express disappointment 
at not having made friends with people 
outside their own cultural community and 
feel the great opportunities they were 
promised have not materialized. 

Those community members without access 
to the internet at home, and those with a low 
level of digital literacy who need support, turn 
to libraries for help. But now that the library 
is open for fewer hours and there are fewer 

librarians and computers, and limited Wi-Fi, 
people cannot always get the online access 
to the services they need. They struggle to 
sign up for government services, enroll in 
programs, apply for jobs, and stay 
connected to friends. 

With decreased social and cultural 
interaction, more Canadians experience 
a rise in xenophobia and discrimination. 
There is less trust among community 
members, which leads to less trust in 
government. Fewer people turn out to vote 
because it’s more difficult to access polling 
stations, and they don’t think it will make 
a difference anyway.

Schools observe that children are starting 
kindergarten with less exposure to early 
literacy and are less ready for learning. 

A PLAUSIBLE 
SCENARIO Stretched to the Brink

PAGE 35OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries   Scenarios for the Future                                                           



Parents confide that they feel more isolated 
and overwhelmed by the new costs of 
educating and occupying their children 
through private programs. The gap in school 
performance between children of families 
who have financial means and those who 
do not is growing. 

Political support for library investment also 
erodes, and more councillors question the 
need for libraries at all. Provincial legislation 
designed to protect libraries from political 
interference is questioned. 

At the same time, deferred library 
maintenance costs continue to mount, 
making achieving a state of good repair 
seem impossible. Conditions worsen, and 
library spaces are less comfortable and 
more difficult to keep clean. 

A PLAUSIBLE 
SCENARIO Stretched to the Brink

PAGE 36OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries   Scenarios for the Future                                                           



COPING
Facing the immediacy of burgeoning 
demands for social supports, some 
branches no longer provide programs 
for young families or after-school activities. 
As staff morale declines, recruiting and 
retention challenges and labour instability 
rise. The combination of staff shortages 
and smaller operating budgets has made 
it necessary for most library branches to 
reduce their hours of operation. 

Some library systems begin to raise 
revenue by introducing fees for programs, 
computer use and even borrowing and 
admission. Local schools no longer rely on 
libraries to provide after-school access to 
computers and programs for youth, which 
has a direct impact on student outcomes. 

As library systems reduce and narrow the 
scope of services they provide, they hold out 
hope that they can restore a better balance 
between providing the library services in their 
mandate and compensating for broken 
public and social service delivery systems. 
They want to see a more diverse constituency 
of visitors return over time – one that will also 
advocate for the necessary political support 
for reinvestment in libraries – but they realize 
this could take decades. 
 

A PLAUSIBLE 
SCENARIO Stretched to the Brink

PAGE 37OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries   Scenarios for the Future                                                           



Resourced for Resilience
Strengthening the Common Good

AN ASPIRATIONAL  
SCENARIO



The Scenario
While libraries are busy due to growing 
demands for new programs and services, 
(especially from newcomers and 
equity-seeking populations), municipal, 
provincial and federal funding for all 
public services is increasing with an 
eye on the long-term benefits. Inflation is 
at its highest level in decades, but the impact 
is cushioned by the programs and services 
available to everyone at local libraries.   

Libraries are recognized for their vital 
role at the heart of their communities. 
Lessons from the pandemic underscore 
their importance and ability to pivot 
to meet diverse local needs. 

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 39OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



IMPACTS ON LIBRARIES
Libraries across the country are thriving 
community centres. During the pandemic, 
they demonstrated their ability to go beyond 
traditional library services, providing 
essential information, functioning as 
vaccination clinics and service centres, 
and offering free 24-7 Wi-Fi, food, and 
public meeting spaces. As cities start to 
recover, libraries are now pivoting again 
to provide appropriate, well-funded and 
top-quality services and programs.
 
Libraries are welcoming places that are 
universally understood as essential to 
maintaining the health of communities, and 
promoting respect, tolerance and a sense 
of belonging for everyone. Also invaluable – 
and hard won – is the trust that community 
members overwhelmingly have in their 

libraries to provide them with a broad range 
of information from many perspectives, and 
the tools to do their own research and 
explore their interests, with staff support. 

Libraries are poised to fulfil crucial and 
varied needs, continuing to transform as 
they did in the decades prior to the 
pandemic. They are incentivized to 
innovate their sites and programs through 
a series of provincial and federal 
investment programs designed to improve 
outcomes according to Canada’s 12 Social 
Determinants of Health. Governments 
acknowledge their critical role in ensuring 
equitable access to the internet by providing 
specific, core allocations to support 
broadband access for all Canadians.

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 40OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



Libraries pivot to become the essential 
community hub of every neighbourhood in 
Canada, working in partnership with service 
providers and key institutions. As the heart of 
their communities, they provide the primary 
public infrastructure, available seven days 
a week and free to everyone. Across the 
country, they reconfigure their services in 
unique ways that reflect the neighbourhood 
and populations they serve. Other critical 
services are drawn toward the library, and 
soon, supportive housing and health care 
providers, schools and transit services are 
located in close proximity.

Library leaders are recognized for their deep 
understanding of community and invited to 
participate in integrated regional planning 

efforts that are linked to municipal, 
provincial and federal investment. 
They broker partnerships with provincial 
service providers, and connect with childcare 
centres, schools and post-secondary 
institutions to maximize the benefits of 
integrated service delivery and ensure 
high degrees of coordination for the public. 

Library staff work closely and 
collaboratively with service providers from 
other public agencies, hosting a range of 
services on site or adjacent to library 
facilities, providing everything from 
newcomer settlement and passport services 
to tax clinics and employment workshops to 
cultural programming. Service coordination 
and cross-referrals become standard.

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 41OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



LIBRARY + EDUCATION LIBRARY + OFFICE & RETAIL

LIBRARY + HOUSING LIBRARY + MARKETPLACE

LIBRARY + TRANSIT

LIBRARY + RECREATION

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 42OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



IMPACTS ON COMMUNITIES
These thriving partnerships also make 
possible a sharing of capital assets. 
Canada’s public libraries sit at the centre 
of a new service delivery model, one that 
integrates facilities, programs, services and 
resources across many different models 
of delivery. 

In some cases, national agencies, including 
the CBC and Canada Post, relocate to local 
libraries. Capital costs for new libraries are 
now part of ongoing plans required by 
Infrastructure Canada, and they are built 
specifically to be climate resilient places of 
refuge, available to all community members 
during weather-related and other 
emergencies. 

To maintain a state of good repair over the 
long-term, capital funding for existing 
libraries is now sourced through the Library 
Futures Fund, a low-return investment fund 
created by the federal Social Finance Fund. 
Government and public pension funds, 
private philanthropy, and private equity 
invest in library assets to achieve climate 
targets – guaranteeing a reasonable rate of 
return while improving energy performance 
and sustainability. 

Canada’s Infrastructure Bank creates a fund 
for social infrastructure investments, for 
which libraries are eligible. Library operating 
costs continue to be primarily covered by 
municipal budgets, but allocations are tied 
to inflation and population growth, so are not 
affected by annual budget reviews. 

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 43OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



Auditor Generals from every order of 
government repeatedly cite libraries as 
having the highest return on investment 
of any publicly funded program. 

 IMPACTS ON COMMUNITY MEMBERS
The COVID-19 pandemic has shown 
the power of proximity. Consequently, 
governments invest in the core of every 
neighbourhood to provide services of all 
kinds, locally, that are easily accessed by 
everyone, and with minimal barriers. 
For community members with limited 
mobility – due to public health measures, 
severe weather, energy costs, age or a 
lack of transportation – there is easy, 
ready access to nearby services. 

Recent investments and partnerships 
make libraries highly coveted workplaces 
for a broad range of trained professionals 
in technology, information management, 
design and the arts who are interested 
in collaborative, inter-disciplinary work 
environments.

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 44OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



Corporations, entrepreneurs and academic 
communities seek partnerships with libraries 
to create innovation and “maker” labs that 
bridge research and product development 
with on-the-ground community needs and 
emerging challenges. 

Libraries function as testbeds to ensure 
youth get hands-on experience with different 
technologies, and career exposure. They 
are also indispensable in upskilling an aging 
workforce that is in constant demand to fill 
vacancies across all sectors.

Now, with sufficient funding and 
partnerships, many libraries across Canada 
are open 365 days a year, providing safe, 
engaging spaces at all times of day, 
regardless of historic calendar holidays. 
Known as the only truly inclusive space, 

libraries house the broadest range of 
activities and visitors, with midnight youth 
events and dawn gatherings for 
astrology clubs. 

With the shuttering of hundreds of faith 
institutions, libraries have become the sole 
community anchor along many main streets, 
able to provide spaces for community and 
civic activities, ranging from drop-in 
programs to drone repair workshops.

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 45OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



THRIVING
Libraries have become the widely
acknowledged “go to” place for programs 
and services that support community 
cohesion and resilience, connecting and 
equipping residents to survive and thrive 
as Canada adapts to a fast-changing 
economy, social conditions and 
climate change.

“Bad libraries build collections, 
good libraries build services, 
great libraries build communities.
R. David Lankes

AN ASPIRATIONAL 
SCENARIO Resourced for Resiience

PAGE 46OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Scenarios for the Future                                                           



THE 
WAY 
FORWARD



Libraries are essential to Canada’s value proposition 
of an inclusive and prosperous country. They are 
the heart of every community, open to everyone, 
providing connections and experiences essential to 
our economic opportunities, equity, and democracy. 
They are essential to social cohesion and the healthy 
functioning of modern life.



The Way Forward A Call To Action

The following is a Call to Action, outlining the priorities, goals and steps 
toward building the resilience of Canada’s neighbourhoods and communities 
by strategically leveraging a hidden asset – the public library. This effort 
requires equipping the country’s largest network of knowledge and service 
providers with the tools and resources they need to meet the economic, 
social, cultural and environmental challenges of this post-pandemic century. 
These actions hinge on increased recognition and funding by provincial 
and federal governments: that urban libraries can – and do – serve critical 
mandates that are under government jurisdiction. 



Relieve Current Operational Pressures
to ensure libraries remain safe, accessible, and welcoming 
libraries to everyone. 

Establish Libraries as Critical Infrastructure
where community resilience is strengthened through funding 
of libraries to deliver government priorities. 

Formalize Sustainable Investment Streams
that recognize their expanding role. 

The Way Forward Priorities

1.

2.

3.



PRIORITY 1 
Relieve Operational Pressures
Priority 1 
Relieve Current Operational Pressures

Today, libraries across the country 
are stretched beyond capacity, and 
some have essentially been turned 
into crisis centres as the last safe 
haven for vulnerable populations. 
While Canada’s urban libraries are 
intentionally accessible and 
welcoming spaces for all residents – 
including those at risk – they are not 
the appropriate public space to 
address the serious mental health 
and addiction issues being 
experienced across the country. 

GOALS 
� Reduce the frequency and severity of social 

disorder and violence 
� Established, appropriate crisis response 
     approaches 
� Reinforcement of the role of libraries as 
     accessible community hubs that can refer 

visitors through referral networks 
� Restoration of the perception and reality of 

libraries as welcoming places for everyone

OUTCOME  
Safe, accessible and welcoming libraries 
for everyone

PAGE 51OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward        



PRIORITY 1 
Relieve Operational Pressures
Priority 1 
Relieve Current Operational Pressures

MUNICIPAL AND LOCAL ACTIONS 
� Confirm deferred maintenance/costs to  
     maintain state of good repair for library 

systems
� Review the municipal Strategic Plan and 

prioritize alignment with library servicess
� Engage libraries early and often in 
     municipal planning and neighbourhood 

development 
� Hear from library CEOs (or their
     designates) on the impacts of homeless-

ness and treatment of mental health and 
addictions, to enhance understanding 

� Prioritize libraries and their adjacent 
     neighbourhoods as priority areas for 
     coordinated services and investment in 

mental health, addiction and public safety 

� Work with library systems to improve 
community emergency preparedness, 
including as places of refuge in response 
to climate events

PROVINCIAL & FEDERAL ACTIONS  
� Develop a pan-Canadian strategy on 

mental health and addiction that would  
include public library leadership

� Develop rapid response strategies 
     including libraries as referral centres
� Increase provincial funding for 
     (1) integrated community-based mental 

health and addiction services for people 
with complex needs, to reduce 

    vulnerability, and (2) support libraries in 
being able to refer individuals in need

PAGE 52OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward        



PRIORITY 2 
Establish Libraries as Critical Infrastructure 
Priority 2 
Establish Libraries as Critical Infrastructure 

Governments must recognize the 
intrinsic role of libraries as community 
infrastructure, as critical as 
transportation, sanitation, emergency 
responders and hospitals. Further, 
provincial and federal governments must 
invest in the vast network of libraries to 
reach Canadians from coast to coast to 
coast, in order to achieve their most 
important mandates: addressing 
climate change, Indigenous reconciliation, 
affordability, and digital equity.
 

GOALS   
� Strengthened community resilience          
     and disaster preparedness by equipping   
     libraries 
� Reinforcement of democratic principles   
     of access to information, Indigenous 
     reconciliation, inclusion and citizenship 
     through libraries 
� Funded services and programs in 
     libraries to support municipal, provincial 
     and federal priorities
  

OUTCOME  
Community resilience is strengthened 
through funding of libraries to be able to 
work with community partners to deliver on 
municipal, provincial and federal priorities

PAGE 53OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward                                                       



PRIORITY 2 
Establish Libraries as Critical Infrastructure 
Priority 2 
Establish Libraries as Critical Infrastructure 

MUNICIPAL AND LOCAL ACTIONS 
� Review municipal Strategic Plans and 
     identify priorities for alignment with 
     library services
� Integrate libraries into planning across 
     municipal department divisions, services and 

workplans, as knowledge hubs and program 
delivery centres

� Centre redevelopment and new 
     developments around libraries, with 
     proximity to other public services, affordable 

housing and community facilities

PROVINCIAL AND FEDERAL 
ACTIONS  
� Establish a National Task Force on 
    the Future of Public Libraries to:

• Undertake a comprehensive national 
assessment of the value and impact of 
public libraries on community well-being 
and health

• Aggregate data on the state of library 
buildings to create a long-term investment 
plan for renovations and construction of 
new libraries, including in multi-use facili-
ties

• Contribute to the program development 
of Canada’s Long-Term Funding Plan for 
libraries, acknowledging the library’s role 
in supporting broadband access through 
the network of libraries

• Identify whole-of-government leveraging 
opportunities for strategic partnerships 
among federal agencies and libraries for 
local service delivery

PAGE 54OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward                                                       



PRIORITY 3 
Formalize Investment
Priority 3 
Formalize Sustainable Investment Streams

Despite the essential role public 
libraries play in addressing 
government priorities, they 
remain chronically underfunded. 
Today’s reliance on municipal 
funding is not sufficient to meet 
the growing expectation of libraries 
to serve their communities in 
multiple ways. Libraries need to 
be invested in as Canada’s most 
trusted institution.

GOAL 
� Formalized funding that recognizes libraries’   
     expanding roles and resources them through 
     a sustainable, blended funding pool, with 
     contributions from municipal, provincial and 
     federal governments. 
 

OUTCOME 
Stable and diversified revenue for libraries  

PAGE 55OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward                                                        



PRIORITY 3 
Formalize Investment
Priority 3 
Formalize Sustainable Investment Streams

MUNICIPAL AND LOCAL ACTIONS 
� Create accountability mechanisms, such    
     as benchmarking, to ensure local library 
     funding keeps pace with inflation and is 
     not annually at risk 
� Equip municipal leaders with advocacy 
     tools to increase provincial and 
     federal support 

PROVINCIAL & FEDERAL ACTIONS  
� Look for mechanisms to commit provincial 
     core funding for library operations, 
     acknowledging the role libraries play 
     in delivering on provincial priorities 
� Explore the potential for a per capita 
     funding allocation that supports libraries 
     as deliverers of federal priorities, as part   
     of the next iteration of the Investing in 
     Canada Infrastructure Program/ 
     Long-Term Infrastructure Plan. 

PAGE 56OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward                                                        



The test of COVID-19 made crystal clear the importance of 
community members having reliable, safe and accessible 
places close to home, to gather information and find support. 
There’s no predicting our next collective challenge, only the 
knowledge that there will be one. It’s incumbent on all of us, 
as urban stewards building one of the most urbanized 
countries in the world, to address the challenges and seize 
every opportunity to strengthen one of our most valuable 
civic assets: our public libraries.

PAGE 57OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward                                                  



Concurrently, higher levels of immigration 
will welcome 500,000 immigrants annually 
by 2025. Newcomers rely on public libraries 
for services such as language training, job 
search assistance, access to computers, 
and to establish connections essential to 
settlement. Early literacy programs and 
language classes offered in libraries will 
be key to providing the children of new 
immigrants with a successful start to their 
education in Canada. 

With an increasing reliance on technology, 
all Canadians need to have digital access 
and support in navigating the information 
they find. Artificial intelligence, detecting 
disinformation and new technological 
interfaces can all be better understood 
with the assistance of a librarian and 
library programs.

Canada will need to support lifelong 
learners and entrepreneurs to keep pace 
with technology and adapt to a fast-changing 
economy and labour market.

Communities will see increased shocks 
and stresses stemming from climate change, 
technological disruptions and global political 
and social upheaval. Equitable access to 
free public libraries where all community 
members are welcome is essential to social 
cohesion and our democracy.

Canada’s workforce will 
increasingly be challenged by 
an aging population, requiring 
better supports for Canadians 
wishing to work longer and 
needing to upgrade skills to 
remain competitive.

PAGE 58OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward                                                  



      usiness magnate and philanthropist 
Andrew Carnegie invented the free public 
library by providing funding for more than 
2,500 public libraries in many parts of 
the world, including 125 in Canadian 
communities, between 1883 and 1929. 
What began as private philanthropy has 
become an essential public service. 

Post-pandemic, we have this moment 
for a once-in-a-generation shift in how 
we secure the social, economic and 
environmental future of Canadian 
communities and cities. We are overdue 
for this change – one that recognizes that 
investment in this national asset can renew 
social cohesion, contribute to economic 
growth, and support community resilience 
for the future.

B

PAGE 59OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  The Way Forward                                                  



Appendix
Canadian Urban Libraries Council member program and activity surveys 
and the assessment of their economic impact was conducted by statistician 
Kevin Stolarick, PhD. Kevin is the Dean of the Curtner Leadership Program 
at Urban Land Institute and a Consulting Researcher for the Toronto 
Workforce Innovation Group. His research focuses on the relationship 
between firm performance and information technology; and the impacts 
of technology, tolerance, talent, and quality of place on regional growth and
prosperity. His work provides informative and accessible insights into the 
Creative Economy and the role of the Creative Class in increasing regional 
growth and prosperity.



Canadian Urban Libraries Council (CULC) 
membership consists of 49 library systems 
across Canada’s largest urban areas. Due 
to the number of requests that CULC already 
makes of its membership and to encourage 
completions, a survey was prepared to 
maximize the amount of necessary 
information obtained while minimizing the 
amount of time required to complete it. 
The primary goal of the survey was to collect 
information on what programs and services 
each of the library systems is currently 
offering. Annual reports, websites and other 
sources were obtained and reviewed to 
identify offered programs and services. 
Those were then manually clustered 
around 10 themes/topics.

The themes/topics identified were:

●  Physical Lending/Access
●  Digital Lending
●  Bookable Space/Facilities
●  Kids and Family Programs
●  Teen Programs
●  Older Adults Programs
●  Newcomer Programs
●  General Audience Programs
●  On Site Social/Support Services 
    – Community Outreach
●  Retail/Office Co-Location

Five to fifteen specific programs and 
services were identified for each theme.

Survey of CULC 
Library Systems  

PAGE 61OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Additionally, the survey requested information 
about when each of the various demographic 
groups returned to the library, any addition-
al programs/services for each theme, other 
community partnerships, COVID-19 recovery 
priorities, and contact information for follow up 
questions.

In total, the survey identified 88 programs 
and services. The approach taken was to 
identify which of the 88 identified programs 
and services were being offered by each 
library system, and then to follow up and ask 
for detailed cost, benefit, and number served 
(e.g. program participants, books lent), 
information from 2022. In effect, by knowing 
who does what and the costs and benefits 
for a specific library for each of the programs/
services, the overall impact could be (roughly) 
estimated without requiring many hours of 
data collection and reporting for each system.

The survey was launched on November 14, 
2022. Results were accepted through 
December 18, 2022. Forty of the 49 CULC 
members submitted responses.This should 
be interpreted as a 100% response rate from 
participating library systems, as the remaining 
members are not library systems or are not 
community focused (e.g., Library and Archives 
Canada and Bibliothèque et Archives 
nationales du Québec).

The 88 programs and services were 
distributed in twos and threes across the 
40 respondents, with each assigned the 
programs/services that they reported doing. 
Generally, a library was asked about 
programs/services within the same theme 
to keep the data collection and reporting 
less streamlined. Detailed responses were 
obtained from 28 of the 40. For 62 of the 
88 programs/services. 

PAGE 62OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



On average, about half of the library systems 
reported doing the activities for which 
additional information was not collected. 
As a result, the economic impacts estimated 
here understate the actual total, combined 
impact. The unreported programs and 
services are generally specific in nature, 
so their absence is not expected to result in 
a major underreporting of total impact, but 
the “real” number would be higher if these 
were included.

PAGE 63OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



What are the most important roles of public libraries to help 
our communities recover? Identify and prioritize your top 3

Total Share 
(%)

1 2 3

Helping community members be informed and connected 34 85% 18 8 8

Building cohesion in community 26 65% 10 6 10

Supporting community members suffering from social isolation 23 58% 3 12 8

Connecting people to government support and services 18 45% 3 8 7

Helping low-income families and groups to return to normal 13 33% 6 3 4

Supporting job seekers 8 20% 3 3 2

Supporting small businesses and entrepreneurs to restart the 
economy

4 10% 3 0 1

In addition to the questions on two 
questions on COVID-19 recovery were 
repeated and a series of questions on 
when specific groups returned to the 
library were asked.

Table A1. Pandemic recovery priorities

Advancing Social and 
Economic Well Being
COVID 19 Priorities

PAGE 64OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



During recovery, the population that is most important for my library to focus on is: 
(select one)

Children and Family 17 42.5%

Vulnerable Populations 16 40.0%

Seniors 3 7.5%

Newcomers 2 5.0%

Youth 2 5.0%

The first question asked respondents to select 
their top most important 3 roles of the library 
for pandemic recovery” (see Table A1). 
Each of the options was selected as a top 
priority by at least 3 library systems. And while 
almost all the libraries (34 of 40) selected 
“Helping community members be informed 
and connected” their top 3, there was not 
uniform agreement on the most important 
roles. These results are consistent with the 
argument that individual library systems have 
customized their priorities and offerings to best 

meet the needs of their specific communities.
The second question asked respondents to 
identify their priority population (Table A2). 
Every available option was selected by at 
least two library systems. While over 80% 
(33 out of 40) selected “children and family” 
or “vulnerable populations”, evenly split 
between two. The results also show libraries 
prioritizing programs/services based on 
the community’s needs and the library’s 
capabilities.

Table A2. Return of specific populations

PAGE 65OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Kids and Family

Teens

Older Adults

Newcomers

General Public

Social Service Clients

Office Workers

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Past Month Have Not Returned

100%

Past 6 Months1 Year AgoOver 1 Year AgoNever Left

Figure 1A shows the when specific groups 
of clients returned to the library. For all 
libraries, for almost every client group, they 
either never left or have returned within the 
past 6 months. Generally, most library systems 
saw most client groups return. Around 15% of 
libraries had at least one client group that 

never left and about 10% had one or more 
groups return within the past 6 months 
(second half of 2022). The nonuniformity and 
range of these results again demonstrate that 
the Covid-19 experience and response varied 
from system to system.

Figure A1. When clients returned to the library

PAGE 66OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Theme/Topic:  Program/Service # of 
Respondents

Share 
%

Digital Lending: eBooks 40 100
Digital Lending: Digital audiobooks 40 100
Digital Lending: Digital newspapers 40 100
Physical Lending/Access: Books 39 98
Physical Lending/Access: DVDs 39 98
Digital Lending: Digital magazines 39 98
Kids and Family Programs: Storytime 39 98
Kids and Family Programs: Dedicated kids and family spaces in the library 39 98
Physical Lending/Access: Music 38 95
Physical Lending/Access: Public Wi-Fi 38 95
General Audience Programs: Computer and technology training 38 95
General Audience Programs: Author talks, lectures and panels 38 95

Table 3 lists the 88 programs/services and 
the count and share of respondents who 
reported undertaking that activity. Several 
activities are being provided by all libraries, 
and each unique activity is being provided 
by at least two library systems.

Table 3. Programs and services by use

Who Is Doing What?  
Findings: Programs and Services

PAGE 67OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Bookable Space/Facilities: Meeting rooms 37 93
General Audience Programs: Book clubs and reading circles 37 93
On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: Partner with local com-
munity organizations to develop community resources

37 93

Digital Lending: Streaming video 36 90
Kids and Family Programs: Reading and/or writing support programs 36 90
Kids and Family Programs: Kids book clubs / reading buddies 36 90
Older Adults Programs: Digital life skills for seniors 36 90
Digital Lending: Streaming music 35 88
Bookable Space/Facilities: Study rooms 34 85
Teen Programs: Multi-media production, robotics, or other tech-related workshops 34 85
Physical Lending/Access: Computers (includes Chromebooks) 33 83
General Audience Programs: Programs on Truth and Reconciliation 33 83
Digital Lending: Digital comics 32 80
Bookable Space/Facilities: Community multipurpose rooms 32 80
General Audience Programs: Business and employment (e.g. interview skills, 
work culture training, job search)

32 80

On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: Areas for warming or 
cooling during extreme weather

32 80

Newcomer Programs: Language learning programs 31 78
General Audience Programs: Posting of civic information (e.g. election informa-
tion, city hall services, etc.)

30 75

On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: Partner with health 
agency to provide information and services

30 75

General Audience Programs: Tour of the library 29 73
Bookable Space/Facilities: Multi-media lab 28 70

PAGE 68OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Teen Programs: Arts classes or workshops 28 70
Older Adults Programs: Lectures and panels on positive mental health and brain 
health

28 70

Retail/Office Co-Location: Community centres 28 70
Bookable Space/Facilities: Conference rooms 26 65
Bookable Space/Facilities: Larger Event Space for more than 50 people 26 65
Teen Programs: Reading and/or writing workshops 26 65
Older Adults Programs: Personal financial planning 26 65
Newcomer Programs: Library Services in multiple languages 26 65
Newcomer Programs: Job search support and skills program 26 65
Newcomer Programs: Online resources for newcomer services 26 65
General Audience Programs: Digital creation (e.g. animation, self-publishing, etc.) 26 65
Teen Programs: Teens Book Club 25 63
Older Adults Programs: Senior social events 25 63
General Audience Programs: Performance art events 24 60
Teen Programs: Game Nights for teens 23 58
Newcomer Programs: Access to settlement workers 23 58
General Audience Programs: Film Screening 23 58
Physical Lending/Access: Tablets (iPad) 22 55
Physical Lending/Access: Passes to cultural organizations (such as museums) 21 53
Bookable Space/Facilities: Exhibition Space 21 53
General Audience Programs: Oral history and stories 21 53
Physical Lending/Access: Passes to national parks 19 48
Newcomer Programs: Citizenship practice test or preparation courses 19 48
Physical Lending/Access: Musical Instruments 18 45

PAGE 69OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Teen Programs: Support for college application, financial aid or other 
career readiness programs

18 45

Older Adults Programs: Support to access options to age in place 18 45
Older Adults Programs: Creative aging programs 18 45
General Audience Programs: Literacy Van, Bookmobile or Books to Go 18 45
Bookable Space/Facilities: Theatre 17 43
Older Adults Programs: Telephone seniors who might be socially isolated 16 40
Newcomer Programs: Personal financial planning 15 38
Retail/Office Co-Location: Café 15 38
Bookable Space/Facilities: Outdoor space 14 35
Kids and Family Programs: Nature walks 14 35
Newcomer Programs: Newsletter or centralized information for newcomers 14 35
On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: On-staff “community 
services navigator” to help people understand and navigate the system to access 
need social, justice and/or health services

14 35

On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: Partner with local     
partners and organizations to provide food for those in need

14 35

Retail/Office Co-Location: Municipal government office 14 35
Older Adults Programs: Support to navigate change with aging 13 33
Teen Programs: Mindfulness workshops 12 30
On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: On-staff social workers 11 28
Retail/Office Co-Location: Gallery 11 28
Retail/Office Co-Location: Gym 11 28
Physical Lending/Access: Tools 8 20
Retail/Office Co-Location: Library store / Boutique 7 18
On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: Community fridge 6 15

PAGE 70OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Retail/Office Co-Location: Housing 6 15
Teen Programs: Counselling 5 13
Retail/Office Co-Location: Museum 4 10
Retail/Office Co-Location: Provincial government office 4 10
Retail/Office Co-Location: College/University office 3 8
On Site Social/Support Services – Community Outreach: Shower facilities 2 5
Retail/Office Co-Location: Movie Theatre 2 5
Retail/Office Co-Location: CBC 2 5
Retail/Office Co-Location: Federal government office 2 5

PAGE 71OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



How Many Are 
Doing What?

Figure A2. How many are doing what

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

Figure A2 shows the number of library 
systems offering each of the 88 programs/
services. While there are a few offerings 
provided by some libraries and every offering 
by at least two library systems, some offerings 
are available at most libraries and some are 
only available at a few libraries. The results 
span the full range. Canadian urban libraries 

are not monolithic in their offerings. The mix of 
programs and services offered by each varies. 
While some consistencies are seen, and 
expected, inconsistencies are also present. 
This result reflects that individual library 
systems are uniquely responding to their 
specific communities’ needs and the library 
system’s own resources and capabilities.

PAGE 72OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



The following process was used to estimate 
the overall economic impact of Canada’s urban 
library systems. The impact is measured as 
the excess benefits created relative to the cost 
of providing and administering a program or 
service. It is based on the number of people 
attending the program or using the service 
(borrowing a book) and their individual benefit.

Step 1 
Ten physical and digital lending services 
are separated out for special processing so that 
separate estimates could be developed based 
on the 2021 Census population for the Census 
Area served by each library system.

●  Physical Lending/Access: Books
●  Physical Lending/Access: DVDs
●  Physical Lending/Access: Music
●  Physical Lending/Access: Public Wi-Fi
●  Digital Lending: Digital comics
●  Digital Lending: Digital magazines
●  Digital Lending: Digital newspapers
●  Digital Lending: eBooks
●  Digital Lending: Streaming music
●  Digital Lending: Streaming video

Estimated Economic Impact 
of Canadian Urban Libraries
Methodology and Findings

PAGE 73OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Step 2
Of the remaining 78 programs and services, 
detailed cost/benefit information was received 
for 52:

●  Population served (and number)
●  Cost
●  Number of participants
●  Tangible ($) benefit per participant
●  Intangible (non-monetary) benefits

Step 3
For the 52 programs/services with detailed 
cost/benefit information, the number of library 
services offering program/service was 
counted.

Step 4
An estimate of the total Canada-wide costs, 
participants, and benefits is calculated. This 
assumes that the reported numbers would be 
equally applicable to all other libraries that are 

offering a similar program/service. 
By spreading the request for detailed information 
across all libraries and removing those items 
that are clearly influenced by underlying 
population (#1), the estimate is not biased 
in any way, and the tremendous nationwide 
effort that would be required to estimate every 
program/service for every library system is 
avoided. It creates a very rough estimate but 
the actual variation should be “white noise” 
with some total impacts over-estimated and an 
equal number under-estimated. This is the best 
that could be done within the timeframe and 
resources available.

As an example, a library system reported that 
for “Teen Programs: Game Nights for Teens” 
in 2022:

●  It cost them $3,000 to provision for and 
   administer the program, which includes 
   board and electronic games
●  341 individuals participated during the year 
    in sessions

PAGE 74OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



●  It provided this for free, purchased and 
    providing games, and prizes
●  The average benefit was $25 per person  
    based on the usual average cost to 
    participate in something similar organized 
    through MeetUp or other for-profit venues 
    would have a minimum purchase 
    requirement.
●  In 2022, the total benefit to the community 
    for hosting teen games nights was $8,525.
●  The net benefit was $5,525.
●  23 library systems reported that they       
    provide “Games Nights for Teens”
●  Therefore, the total economic benefit 
    provided across Canada by the libraris   
    that provide “Game Nights for Teens” 
    is $127,075.
●  If all 49 CULC members provided this 
    program (discussed more in the next 
    section), the total benefit would be     
    $270,725.

●  The thoughtful response from the library 
    also included this response to the prompt 
    about intangible benefits also arise from 
    providing this program: Engaging in games 
    helps teens in problem solving skills, better 
    social skills when gaming in a group. Games 
    can improve manual dexterity and stimulate 
    imaginative play and creativity. Gaming is 
    also a great way to improve literacy skills as 
    games tell stories in new and exciting ways. 
    The library provides opportunities for teens to 
    engage with games in a safe and welcoming 
    environment.”

PAGE 75OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Total Economic Impact from    
Canada’s Urban Libraries

Cost ($m) Served # Total Benefit 
($m)

Net Benefit 
($m)

Programs/Services (52) 205,398,323 55,289,329 627,525,391 422,127,068

Physical/Digital Lending (10) 101,004,045 260,296,271 1,502,546,053 1,401,542,008

Total 306,402,368 315,585,600 2,130,071,444 1,823,669,076

Table A4. Total economic impact of Canada’s urban libraries

Step 5
Returning to #1 (physical and digital lending) 
and separately developing estimates that take 
into account regional population,

●  Ten different libraries were asked to provide 
    cost, number served and benefits for 
    each of the ten lending options. The 2021 
    Census population numbers (for the CMA 
    or CA that includes the library system) were 
    then used to normalize the costs, service 
    provided and benefits per person.

●  The per person estimates then combined 
    with Census 2021 population estimates for 
    each of the 40 library systems included in 
    this study.

●  Accumulating each library for each of the 
    ten physical and digital lending opportunities 
    result in an estimated Canada-wide 
    economic impact from lending activities.

Table A4 is the result of combining all of this 
information.

PAGE 76OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Overall, Canada’s urban libraries are 
creating $2.1 billion in community 
economic impact on just over $300 million 
in cost. The overall return is nearly $6 for 
every $1 spent. Much of this is driven by 
providing free access to physically or digitally 
published goods, but the other programs and 
services return on average more than $2 for 
every $1 spent. Based on the 2021 Canada 
wide Census population of 36,991,981, every 
man, women and child in Canada is partaking 
in a library offering 8.5 times per year on 
average.

The impact of Canada’s urban libraries is not 
limited to the $1.8 billion in economic effects, 
but that is the tractable and measurable 
scope of this study.

PAGE 77OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Cost Number 
Served

Total Benefit Net Benefit

Programs/Services (52) 368,613,326 97,859,174 1,117,590,285 748,976,959

Physical/Digital Lending (10) 101,004,045 260,296,271 1,502,546,053 1,401,542,008

Total 469,617,371 358,155,445 2,620,136,338 2,150,518,967

Table A5. Potential economic impact of Canada’s urban libraries

As explained in the prior section, the estimated 
economic effect of Canada’s urban libraries 
is based solely on the activities that each 
of the 40 library systems reported they were 
providing at the time of the survey. What if all 
40 libraries were doing all 62 things?

Table A5 below shows the estimates if all 
40 libraries were each providing all 52 of the 
programs/services (52 of the 88 for which 
detailed numbers were reported). It shows the 
increase in cost and the resulting increase in 
benefits. The physical/digital lending numbers 
are unchanged as all 40 library systems are 

already providing those programs/services. 
The overall changes are not tremendous 
mostly as a result of the smaller number of 
individuals reached by many of the specific 
programs/services. The new mix of programs 
drops the overall return to $4.50 for each 
$1 spent, which is a reflection of library 
systems not offering programs for which 
they have determined that the benefits do 
not outweigh the costs. In effect, this analysis 
forces every library to offer every program, 
resulting in slightly less effective overall 
returns, but shows at least some of the 
untapped potential in Canada’s urban libraries.

What If…?

PAGE 78OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Appendix                                                 



Resources



“A National Policy Agenda for Libraries.” American Library 
Association, Office for Information Technology Policy. 2015. 
https://www.ala.org/advocacy/sites/ala.org.advocacy/files/
content/pdfs/NPAforLibraries1.pdf.

Beattie, Samantha. “Toronto Public Library’s Plan to Spend 
$1M More on Security Not Enough to Curb Violence: 
Union.” CBC News. October 24, 2021. (Accessed 
December 8, 2022.) www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/
toronto-public-library-s-plan-to-spend-1m-more-on-security-
not-enough-to-curb-violence-union-1.6221177.

Bernhardt, Darren, and Cameron MacLean. “3 youths 
arrested after fatal stabbing at Millennium Library 
in downtown Winnipeg.” CBC News. December 12, 
2022. (Accessed February 4, 2023.) https://www.cbc.
ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-
stabbing-1.6682493

Bethune, Brian. “How Public Libraries Are Reinventing 
Themselves for the 21st Century.” Maclean’s. January 25, 
2018 https://macleans.ca/society/how-public-libraries-are-
reinventing-themselves-for-the-21st-century.

Bharti, Bianca. “Canada’s Transition to a Knowledge 
Economy Could Suffer if Business Doesn’t Take Mental 
Health Seriously.” Financial Post. May 17, 2021. https://
financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-
knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-business-doesnt-take-
mental-health-seriously

Broz, David, et al. “A New Model for the Public Library.” 
Gensler. 2019. https://www.gensler.com/gri/a-new-model-for-
the-public-library.

Bruxvoort, Diane. “Library as third place: A strategic 
framework.” Society of College, National and University 
Libraries. February 10, 2017. (Accessed December 
8, 2022.) https://www.sconul.ac.uk/sites/default/files/
documents/3_18.pdf.

“Calgary New Central Library.” Entuitive. (Accessed 
December 8, 2022.)  https://www.entuitive.com/project/
calgary-new-central-library/.

Calgary Public Library. CULC Digital Advocacy (eBooks 
& Audiobooks). Campaign brief. Calgary, Alberta: Calgary 
Public Library, September 26, 2019.

Caulfield, John. “Three libraries in California were built in 
less than two years under a P3 contract.” Building Design 
and Construction. September 22, 2021. (Accessed January 
10, 2023.) https://www.bdcnetwork.com/three-libraries-
california-were-built-less-two-years-under-p3-contract. 

City of Brampton. “Urban Community Hub.” Brampton, 
Ontario: City of Brampton. (Accessed December 8, 2022.)  
https://www.brampton.ca/EN/City-Hall/Uptown-Brampton/
Pages/Urban-Community-Hub.aspx. 

PAGE 80OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               

https://www.ala.org/advocacy/sites/ala.org.advocacy/files/content/pdfs/NPAforLibraries1.pdf. 
https://www.ala.org/advocacy/sites/ala.org.advocacy/files/content/pdfs/NPAforLibraries1.pdf. 
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/toronto-public-library-s-plan-to-spend-1m-more-on-security-not-enough-to-curb-violence-union-1.6221177.
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/toronto-public-library-s-plan-to-spend-1m-more-on-security-not-enough-to-curb-violence-union-1.6221177.
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/toronto-public-library-s-plan-to-spend-1m-more-on-security-not-enough-to-curb-violence-union-1.6221177.
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/toronto-public-library-s-plan-to-spend-1m-more-on-security-not-enough-to-curb-violence-union-1.6221177.
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/toronto-public-library-s-plan-to-spend-1m-more-on-security-not-enough-to-curb-violence-union-1.6221177.
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/toronto-public-library-s-plan-to-spend-1m-more-on-security-not-enough-to-curb-violence-union-1.6221177.
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/millennium-library-winnipeg-stabbing-1.6682493
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus


“COVID at Two: Vast majorities say the pandemic has 
pulled Canadians apart, brought out the worst in people.” 
Angus Reid Institute. March 10, 2022. (Accessed December 
8, 2022.)  https://angusreid.org/covid-19-two-year-
anniversary/.

Crabb, Josh, and Nathan Liewicki. “How libraries in some 
other Canadian cities deal with security risks.” CBC News. 
January 24, 2023. (Accessed February 4, 2023.)  https://
www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/public-library-security-
canadian-cities-1.6723364.

Drudi, Cassandra. “How Canadian Libraries Are Supporting 
Their Communities’ Health and Wellness - Quill and Quire.” 
Quill and Quire. May 10, 2021.  https://quillandquire.
com/omni/how-canadian-libraries-are-supporting-their-
communities-health-and-wellness. 

Dudley, David. “How Helsinki Built ‘Book Heaven’.” 
Bloomberg. November 1, 2019. (Accessed January 
26, 2023.)  https://www.bloomberg.com/news/
articles/2019-11-01/how-helsinki-built-book-heaven. 

Edmonton Public Library. Q2 2022 Incidents at EPL.Vicky 
Varga. Edmonton, Alberta: Edmonton Public Library, 2022.

“Fact sheet: Violence in our libraries and what to do about 
it.” Canadian Union of Public Employees. June 22, 2020. 
(Accessed December 8, 2022.)   https://cupe.ca/fact-sheet-
violence-our-libraries-and-what-do-about-it

Falk, Nicholas. “Applying Land Value Capture Tools: 
Lessons from Copenhagen and Freiburg.” The URBED 
Trust. 2019. https://www.urbedtrust.com/wp-content/
uploads/2022/09/urban-maestro_land-value-capture_-n-falk.
pdf. 

Flood, Alison. “UK’s public libraries record another 
year of cuts, with yet more on the way.” The Guardian. 
December 4, 2020. (Accessed January 11, 2023.)  https://
www.theguardian.com/books/2020/dec/04/uks-public-
libraries-record-another-year-of-cuts-with-yet-more-on-
the-way#:~:text=Annual%20figures%20from%20the%20
Chartered,%C2%A320m%2C%20to%20%C2%A3725m. 

Florida, Richard, and Brooks Rainwater. “Libraries Can 
Unite a Lonely, Divided Nation.” Bloomberg. October 26, 
2022. (Accessed December 8, 2022.) www.bloomberg.com/
news/articles/2022-10-26/in-a-divided-nation-public-libraries-
offer-space-to-reconnect.

PAGE 81OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               

https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus


“Freckle Project April 2022 “Where Did You Get That Book” 
Update.” EveryLibrary Institute. May 1, 2022. (Accessed 
January 11, 2023.) https://www.everylibraryinstitute.org/
freckle_april_2022. 

“Future Libraries: Workshops Summary and Emerging 
Insights.” Arup. July 2015. https://www.arup.com/
perspectives/publications/research/section/future-libraries. 

Garmer, Amy K. “Rising to the Challenge: Re-Envisioning 
Public Libraries.” The Aspen Institute, Communications and 
Society Program. October 2014. https://www.aspeninstitute.
org/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Aspen-LibrariesReport-
2017-FINAL.pdf. 

Garrido, Juan Luis, et al. “The Future of Libraries.” 
Canadian Urban Libraries Council. April 2021.  https://culc.
ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/The-Future-Of-Libraries.pdf. 

Giles, David. “Branches of Opportunity.” Center for an 
Urban Future. January 2013.  https://nycfuture.org/pdf/
Branches_of_Opportunity.pdf. 

“A National Policy Agenda for Libraries.” American Library 
Association, Office for Information Technology Policy. 2015. 
https://www.ala.org/advocacy/sites/ala.org.advocacy/files/
content/pdfs/NPAforLibraries1.pdf.

Government of Alberta, Public Library Services Branch. 
Public library statistics. Alberta: Government of Alberta, 
2018. (Accessed December 8, 2022.) . https://www.
alberta.ca/public-library-statistics.aspx#:~:text=Library%20
use,-In%202018%3A&text=There%20were%20
1%2C538%2C569%20library%20cardholders,person%20
over%2021%20million%20times. 

Government of British Columbia, BC Gov News. 
Pandemic Relief Funds Help Libraries Adapt to Changing 
Needs. BC Gov News. Victoria, British Columbia: BC 
Gov News, May 17, 2022. https://news.gov.bc.ca/
releases/2022MUNI0029-000767. 

Government of British Columbia, Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs – Library Branch. COVID-19 Relief and Recovery 
Funding for Public Libraries One-Time Grant Allocation 
Summary. British Columbia:  March 2022. (Accessed 
December 8, 2022.)   https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/
residents/sports-and-recreation/arts-culture/public-libraries/
funding/summary_bc_public_library_covid_relief_funding.pdf

Government of Canada, Health Canada. Federal actions 
on opioids to date. Health Canada. Canada: Government 
of Canada, March 2023. (Accessed February 4, 2023.)  
https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/opioids/
federal-actions/overview.html.

PAGE 82OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               

https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus
https://financialpost.com/news/economy/canadas-transition-to-a-knowledge-economy-could-suffer-if-bus


Government of Canada, Public Safety Canada. Building 
A Safer Community Through Inclusive Learning. Canada: 
Government of Canada, April 29, 2021. (Accessed January 
10, 2023.) https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/cntrng-crm/
crm-prvntn/nvntr/dtls-en.aspx?i=1008.

Government of Canada, Statistic Canada. Population 
Projections for Canada (2021 to 2068), Provinces and 
Territories (2021 to 2043). Canada: Statistics Canada, 
August 22, 2022, modified April 27, 2023. (Accessed 
December 8, 2022.) https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/
pub/91-520-x/91-520-x2022001-eng.htm. 

Government of Canada, Statistics Canada. Measuring the 
Gig Economy in Canada Using Administrative Data. Sung-
Hee Jeon, et al. Analytics Studies Branch Research Papers 
Series. Canada: Statistics Canada, Dec. 2019. (Accessed 
December 8, 2022.) . https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/
pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2019025-eng.htm. 

Government of Ontario, Ministry of Culture. “Third 
Generation Public Libraries: Visionary Thinking and Service 
Development in Public Libraries (to 2020) and Potential 
Application in Ontario.” Wendy Newman. Ontario: Ontario 
Ministry of Culture, 2008.  http://www.mtc.gov.on.ca/en/
publications/third_gen_libraries.pdf. 

Grant, Richard. “How Memphis Created the Nation’s 
Most Innovative Public Library: You can play the ukulele, 
learn photography or record a song in a top-flight studio. 
You can also check out a book.” Smithsonian Magazine. 
November 2021. (Accessed March 16, 2023.) https://www.
smithsonianmag.com/innovation/memphis-created-nations-
innovative-public-library-180978844/. 

“A National Policy Agenda for Libraries.” American Library 
Association, Office for Information Technology Policy. 2015. 
https://www.ala.org/advocacy/sites/ala.org.advocacy/files/
content/pdfs/NPAforLibraries1.pdf.

“How Canadian Public Libraries Stack Up.” Online 
Computer Library Center. https://www.oclc.org/content/
dam/oclc/reports/canadastackup/214109cef_how_libraries_
stack_up.pdf 

“How libraries stack up: 2010.” Online Computer Library 
Center.  214109usf_how_libraries_stack_up.pdf (oclc.org)

Hughes, Kathleen. “Libraries Can Really Change the 
Future.” Public Libraries Online. April 21, 2022.  https://
publiclibrariesonline.org/2022/04/libraries-can-really-change-
the-future. 

Incident Dashboard – Libraries 2022, Brampton Security 
Services, 2022.“Innovative Ways Libraries Are Helping 
Communities During COVID.” EveryLibrary. (Accessed 
December 8, 2022.) https://action.everylibrary.org/
innovative_ways_libraries_help_during_covid. 

Halifax Public Libraries. Strategic Plan 2017-2021. 
Halifax, Nova Scotia: Halifax Public Libraries, 2016. 
hhttp://www2.halifaxpubliclibraries.ca/archives/strategic-
plan/2017-21/?_ga=2.93028893.1281896958.1686870874-
1551646603.1686870874&_gl=1*t0cu4u*_
ga*MTU1MTY0NjYwMy4xNjg2ODcwODc0*_ga_

PAGE 83OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               

https://www.ala.org/advocacy/sites/ala.org.advocacy/files/content/pdfs/NPAforLibraries1.pdf. 
https://www.ala.org/advocacy/sites/ala.org.advocacy/files/content/pdfs/NPAforLibraries1.pdf. 


Kann-Christensen, Nanna. “National Strategies for Public 
Library Development: Comparing Danish and Swedish 
models for project funding.” Nordisk kulturpolitisk tidsskrift 
– The Nordic Journal of Cultural Policy. (Accessed January 
11, 2023.)https://www.idunn.no/doi/10.18261/ISSN2000-
8325-2011-01-02-05

Klinenberg, Eric. “Why Libraries Will Save the World (If We 
Let Them).” Penguin Random House. (Accessed December 
10, 2022.)   https://www.penguinrandomhouse.com/articles/
eric-klinenberg-libraries/. 

Klinenberg, Eric. Palaces for the People: How Social 
Infrastructure Can Help Fight Inequality, Polarization, and 
the Decline of Civic Life. New York, USA: Crown, 2019.

Kopun, Francine. “Toronto Public Library Board Approves 
$2 Million for Security Guard Resources.” Toronto Star. 
October 25, 2021. (Accessed December 8, 2022.)  www.
thestar.com/news/gta/2021/10/25/toronto-public-library-
board-approves-2-million-for-security-guard-resources.html. 

“Launch and Let Go: How Government Can Use Social 
Innovation Labs to Solve Complex Problems.” Davis Pier. 
2021https://www.davispier.ca/social-innovation. 

“Librarians Face Increasing Violence on the Job, Toronto 
Public Library Figures Show.” CBC News. February 2, 
2020.  www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/toronto-library-
violence-1.5447553. 

“Library Funding in the UK 2019/20.” Libraries Connected.  
https://www.librariesconnected.org.uk/resource/uk-library-
funding-2020. 

Mattern, Shannon. “Library as Infrastructure.” Places 
Journal. June 2014. (Accessed December 8, 2022.)  https://
doi.org/10.22269/140609

Miller, Adam. “2 years into the pandemic, Canada’s 
mental-health system is at a crisis point.” CBC News. 
March 11, 2022. (Accessed December 8, 2022.)  www.
cbc.ca/news/health/canada-mental-health-crisis-covid-19-
pandemic-1.6382378. 

“Navigating the 2020s: How Canada Can Thrive in a 
Decade of Change.” RBC Thought Leadership. January 
3, 2020.  https://thoughtleadership.rbc.com/navigating-the-
2020s-how-canada-can-thrive-in-a-decade-of-change/. 

Nichols, Caleb. “Public-Private Partnerships Are Quietly 
Hollowing Out Our Public Libraries: Private companies 
contracted to “streamline” public libraries are doing it at the 
cost of decent-paying union jobs.” Truthout. November 10, 
2021. (Accessed January 11, 2023.) https://truthout.org/
articles/public-private-partnerships-are-quietly-hollowing-out-
our-public-libraries/. 

“Nudging Government to Use Evidence: Four strategies 
for encouraging evidence-based policy — and why they 
will help change behaviour.” Davis Pier. 2022 https://www.
davispier.ca/nudging-government-whitepaper

PAGE 84OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               



Oakville Public Library. 2021 Report to the Community. 
Oakville, Ontario: Oakville Public Library, 2021. 
(Accessed November 10, 2022.)   https://opl.ca/About-
OPL/Publications/Plans-Reports/2021-Report-to-the-
Community-(1). 

Oakville Public Library. Strategic Plan 2022–2024: Inspire, 
Connect, Create, Learn. Oakville, Ontario: Oakville Public 
Library, 2021https://opl.ca/getmedia/44baa552-c706-4860-
ad12-21d888fe003e/21OPL002_Strategic_Plan_FINAL-
AODA.pdf. 

“Public Libraries Respond to Covid-19: Survey of Response 
and Activities.” Public Library Association. 2020.  2015. 
https://www.ala.org/pla/sites/ala.org.pla/files/content/
advocacy/covid-19/PLA-Libraries-Respond-Survey_
Aggregate-Results_FINAL2.pdf. 

“Public Library Revenue, Expenditures, and Funding 
Sources.” American Academy of Arts and Sciences. 
(Accessed January 11, 2023.) https://www.amacad.org/
humanities-indicators/public-life/public-library-revenue-
expenditures-and-funding-sources.

Quednau, Rachel. “A Unique Public-Private Partnership for 
a 21st Century Library Rachel.” Strong Towns. September 
13, 2017. (Accessed January 10, 2023.)  https://www.
strongtowns.org/journal/2017/9/7/a-unique-public-private-
partnership-for-a-21st-century-library. 

Rao, Govind C. “The Great Equalizer: The Case For 
Investing In the Toronto Public Library.” Canadian Centre 
for Policy Alternatives. November 2012. (Accessed January 
11, 2023.)  2015. https://policyalternatives.ca/sites/default/
files/uploads/publications/Ontario%20Office/2012/11/Great_
Equalizer_0.pdf. 

Rosen, Ellen. “Beyond the Pandemic, Libraries Look 
Toward a New Era.” The New York Times. September 
24, 2020. (Accessed December 8, 2022.)  www.nytimes.
com/2020/09/24/business/libraries-pandemic-future.html. 

“Saskatoon Central Library Reveals Latest Developments.” 
Canadian Interiors. October 28, 2022. www.
canadianinteriors.com/2022/10/28/saskatoon-central-library-
reveals-latest-developments. 

Seefeldt, Jürgen. “Overview of the German Library System.” 
Goethe-Institut. October, 2019. (Accessed January 11, 
2023.)  https://www.goethe.de/ins/ca/en/kul/lit/nlc/21613640.
html. 

Seismonaut and Roskilde Central Library. The impact of 
public libraries in Denmark: A haven in our community. 
Denmark: Seismonaut and Roskilde Central Library, 2021. 
https://www.roskildebib.dk/sites/roskilde.ddbcms.dk/files/
files/news/roskildebib_folkebibliotekets_betydning_for_
borgerne_i_danmark_eng_final_0.pdf. 

PAGE 85OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               



Silk, Kimberly and Kevin Stolarick. “So Much More: The 
Economic Impact of the Toronto Public Library on the City 
of Toronto.” Martin Prosperity Institute. 2013. 2015. https://
www.torontopubliclibrary.ca/content/about-the-library/service-
plans-strategies-frameworks/So.Much.More.Economic.
Impact.Study.pdf. 

Skjerven, Kelly, and Kelly Skjerven. “Machines That 
Dispense HIV Testing Kits, Clean Needles and Naloxone 
Launch in Canada.” Toronto Star. January 23, 2023. https://
www.thestar.com/news/canada/2023/01/23/machines-that-
dispense-hiv-testing-kits-clean-needles-and-naloxone-
launch-in-canada.html.

Smith, Madeline. “‘We Are a Place for Everyone’: How 
the Calgary Public Library Is Confronting Social Issues.” 
Toronto Star. December 12, 2018.  www.thestar.com/
calgary/2018/12/12/we-are-a-place-for-everyone-how-the-
calgary-public-library-is-confronting-social-issues.html. 

Sno-Isle Libraries. Public Library Facilities for the Future. 
Margaret Sullivan Studio. New York, USA: Sno-Isle 
Libraries, 2019.  https://www.margaretsullivanllc.com/wp-
content/uploads/2019/06/MSS-Public-Library-Facilities-for-
the-Future.pdf. 

State of California, California Strategic Growth Council. 
Round 1 Final Program Guidelines: FY 2022-2023. 
Community Resilience Centers (CRC) Program. California, 
USA: California Strategic Growth Council, April 6, 
2023.   https://sgc.ca.gov/meetings/council/2023/04-26/
docs/20230426-Item5a_Attachment_A_CRC_Guidelines.pdf

State of Massachusetts, Massachusetts Libraries 
Board of Library Commissioners. Library Space: A 
Planning Resource for Librarians. Massachusetts, USA: 
Massachusetts Libraries Board of Library Commissioners, 
Nov. 2020. https://mblc.state.ma.us/programs-and-support/
construction/files/Library-Space-Planning-Resource.pdf. 

Surico, John, et al. “Branches to Recovery: Tapping the 
Power of New York’s Libraries to Ensure an Inclusive 
Recovery and Rebuild a More Equitable City.” Centre for an 
Urban Future. November 2021.  https://nycfuture.org/pdf/
CUF_Branches_to_Recovery.pdf. 

“The Royal Society of Canada Expert Panel Report: The 
Future Now.” The Royal Society of Canada, The Academies 
of Arts, Humanities and Sciences of Canada. November 
2014.  https://rsc-src.ca/sites/default/files/L%26A_Report_
EN_FINAL_Web.pdf. 

“The Value of Public Libraries.” Ontario Library Association. 
2022 https://accessola.com/public-library-advocacy/

PAGE 86OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               



“Toolkit on the Recovery & Reimagined Public Library 
Services Post Covid-19.” Canadian Urban Libraries Council. 
May 21, 2020.  https://culc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/
CULC-Toolkit-on-Post-Covid-19-Library-Service.pdf. 

Toronto Public Library. Alternate Approaches to Safety 
and Security at TPL. Staff Report. Toronto, Ontario: 
Toronto Public Library, May 24, 2022.  2015. https://
torontopubliclibrary.typepad.com/board-meetings/2022-05-
24/15-alternate-approaches-to-safety-and-security-at-TPL-
combined.pdf. 

Toronto Public Library. Torontonians Receive $5.63 of value 
for every dollar invested in Toronto Public Library. Press 
release. Toronto, Ontario: Toronto Public Library, December 
5, 2013. 2015. https://torontopubliclibrary.typepad.com/
news_releases/2013/12/torontonians-receive-563-of-value-
for-every-dollar-invested-in-toronto-public-library.html. 

Toronto Public Library. TPL: Vital to Toronto, Building 
Success, Resilience and Well-Being for Our City. Strategic 
Plan, 2020-2024. . https://www.torontopubliclibrary.ca/
content/about-the-library/strategic-plan/pdfs/strategic-plan-
2020-full-version-web-single-pages.pdf

“Toward a Federation of Library Associations in Canada: 
Strengthening the national voice for Canadian libraries.” 
Canadian Federation of Library Associations. December 
18, 2015.  http://cfla-fcab.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/
Proposal_Cdn_federation_library_associations_
Final_2015_12_18_EN.pdf. 

“Truth and Reconciliation Report and Recommendations.” 
Canadian Federation of Library Associations. 2017.  
https://cfla-fcab.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Truth-and-
Reconciliation-Committee-Report-and-Recommendations.
pdf. 

“United Against Covid-19.” Core Alberta. January 2021.  
https://corealberta.ca/resources/19-zero-united-against-
covid-19.

United States Federal Reserve, Federal Reserve Bank 
of Chicago. The Returns to Public Library Investment. 
Gregory Gilpin, et al. Chicago, USA: Federal Reserve 
Bank of Chicago, rev. July 2021. (Accessed January 11, 
2023.)  https://doi.org/10.21033/wp-2021-06. 

Wachsmuth, David. Libraries as Urban Infrastructure. 
Urban Politics and Research Group, McGill University. 
May 2019. . https://upgo.lab.mcgill.ca/talk/canadian-urban-
libraries-council-2019/Wachsmuth-CULC-2019.pdf.

Warner, Jody. “DividendsU: The Value of Public Libraries 
in Canada.” Book and Periodical Council. 1997.  http://
en.copian.ca/library/research/dividend/dividend.pdf.

Wilson, Virginia. “Public libraries in Canada: an overview.” 
Library Management, vol. 29, Issue 6/7, 2008, pp. 556- 570.

Yeung, Peter. “Helsinki Built a Library That Brings a Whole 
City Together.” Reasons to be Cheerful. December 1, 2022. 
(Accessed January 26, 2023.)   https://reasonstobecheerful.
world/oodi-library-helsinki-future/.

PAGE 87OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  Resources                                               

http://en.copian.ca/library/research/dividend/dividend.pdf.
http://en.copian.ca/library/research/dividend/dividend.pdf.
https://reasonstobecheerful.world/oodi-library-helsinki-future/
https://reasonstobecheerful.world/oodi-library-helsinki-future/


Acknowledgements
CANADIAN URBAN INSTITUTE
Maria Alonso Novo, Intern
Jennifer Barrett, Managing Director, Programs, 
                           Policy & Planning
Émilie Charlebois, Manager of Operations
Luthfi Dhofier, Research & Policy Analyst
Nick Hanson, Communications Lead
Berta Kaisr, Intern
Jared Kolb, Program Director
Robert Plitt, Vice-President, Strategy & Development
Mary W. Rowe, President & CEO
Leandro G. Santos, Research Planner
David Scrivener, Intern 
Greg Spencer, Director, Research
Gay Stephenson, Community Partnership Lead
Alex Tabascio, Research Analyst
Zahireen Tarefdar, Communications & Administration Officer
 
PARTNERS & COLLABORATORS
Janna Levitt, LGA Architectural Partners
Lisa Orchard, Scribe Technical
Ferruccio Sardella, Graphic Design
Kevin Stolarick, Dean, Curtner Leadership Program at 
              Urban Land Institute & Consulting Researcher, 
              Toronto Workforce Innovation Group
Pamela Young, Researcher and Writer
Claire Weisz and Sijia Zhou, WXY Studio 

Vickery Bowles, City Librarian, Toronto Public Library
Mary Chevreau, CEO, Kitchener Public Library
Michael Ciccone, CEO and Chief Librarian, London          
                  Public Library
Christina Decastell, Chief Librarian and CEO,   
                     Vancouver Public Library
Åsa Kachan, Chief Librarian and CEO, Halifax 
           Public Libraries
Mary Kapusta, Director, Communications &    
              Engagement, Calgary Public Library
Lauren Jessop, CEO, Barrie Public Library
Pilar Martinez, CEO, Edmonton Public Library
Frances Newman, CEO, Oshawa Public Libraries
Tara Wong, CEO, Oakville Public Library
Jefferson Gilbert, Executive Director, Canadian Urban  
                  Libraries Council
Jennifer Marriott, Canadian Urban Libraries Council

CANADIAN URBAN LIBRARIES 
COUNCIL STEERING COMMITTEE

PAGE 88OVERDUE  The Case for Canada’s Public Libraries  



September 2023

https://canurb.org






 
 

 

 

                                       

 

 

4710 50 Avenue,  

Camrose Alberta, T4V 0R8  

780.672.4214 

October 5 2023 

 

City Council 

City of Camrose City Hall 

5204 50 Avenue 

Camrose AB 

T4V 0S8 

 

RE: 2024 Funding Agreement 

 

Esteemed Council, 

 

Request 

The Camrose Public Library (CPL) is requesting a 0.79% ($4471.4) increase to its 

2024 funding from the City of Camrose in pursuit of its goal to retain Sunday 

operating hours. The initial 2023-2024 budgets had set CPL’s 2024 funding at 

$565,700; CPL is now requesting $570,171.40 

 

What has changed in the last year 

• CPL’s demand for Sunday operating hours has increased. 2023 Sunday 

attendance is up by 47% over the year prior.  

• The private donation that currently funds Sunday service will end by 

January 31 2024, and CPL cannot match it with the expected revenue. 

• The 2023 Alberta Provincial Housing & Service Needs Estimation 

Community Report for the City and County of Camrose was released. It 

identified that there are at least 663 community members experiencing 

housing insecurity in our community, 189 of which were dependents. 

These numbers are underreported. Additionally, 50% of these individuals 

are employed and as such have limitations on their time. 

• We have recently partnered with Camrose Helps to expand their 

community pantry and provide evening and weekend access; closing on 

Sundays would limit the returns on this partnership. 



 
 

 

 

                                       

 

 

4710 50 Avenue,  

Camrose Alberta, T4V 0R8  

780.672.4214 

• The new rooms in the library renovation have opened, and closing on 

Sundays reduces the likelihood that members of the public can utilize 

them. 

 

What we have done to retain Sunday hours 

2023 was the first year to approach normal operations since the pandemic 

began. After reviewing CPL’s spending in this has played out in our first year, CPL 

made the decision to trim from some of our budget lines such as HR 

consultation, janitor supplies, board training expenses, and phone lines. The 

library also saw a significant increase in attendance, which resulted in a higher-

than-expected increase in revenue. Our unexpected revenue and reduced 

expenses allowed us to cover 60% ($13,763) of the cost of keeping Sunday 

opening hours. We are requesting that the City of Camrose and Camrose 

County help us to bridge the gap so that we can continue to serve some of the 

most vulnerable in our community. 

 

Please see the attached infographic for more information. 

 

Thank you for your time and consideration, 

 
Alyssa Martin 

Director 

Camrose Public Library 

 

Cc: City of Camrose Library Board 

 

 

 



A private donor stepped
forward and gave 
CPL 1 year of 
funding

20,000

In 2020, CPL
funding started to

drop, and the
expenses started to

increase. Things
were hard for

everyone, and CPL
could not keep up

In 2023, CPL
made the difficult

decision to cut
opening hours,
which included

closing on
Sundays

Closing Sundays hurt the vulnerable.
Sundays at the library meant:

Presentation to 
Camrose City Council October 16 2023

 A place outside a church to
find community

Being able to catch a ride with
someone who usually works

Access to food when
other services are

closed

Computers and internet to
do their homework

A warm place to be with
clean water

Access to clean air 

CPL is working with
Camrose Helps to host
a community pantry.
The Camrose Food

Bank is only open Tues-
Thurs

Many struggle to pay for heat, housing 
and water*

Limited funds
and transit

options make
travel difficult 
for some of 

our community.

Few places are open on Sundays

Not everyone can afford a computer or internet

2023 set a
record for smoke
days, and people

were urged to
take a smoke

break by visiting
their local
library**

This funding ends soon

    Estimation Report 
*  2023 Alberta Provincial Housing & Service Needs  

      Air Quality Statement
**  Environment and Climate Change Canada Special 



This means increased revenue

Good news: 2023 exceeded expectations
Sunday 
attendance 
increased by 47%Library 

attendance 
increased by 26%+ +

PrintingRoom Rentals Memberships
Exam

Proctoring
Book Sale and

Donations

This revenue, coupled with reduced spending meant

CPL found $13,763.10

Sundays cost $22,793 a year

CPL Needs
$4471.40 (+0.79%) $4558.50 (+6.2%)

Please help us to save Sundays


